EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

24

2023 20

21 2022 2022 12 31

(China Telecom Corporation Limited)

(Wong Yuk Har, Company Secretary)

100033 31
(31 Jinrong Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, China 100033)

(03)6271-9900

(03)6271-9900

17.11
2023 25

19.47
2023 25

1/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

oOoOooodn
1993 12 29 NPC 1994
2005 10 27 10 2006
2013 12 28 12

2014 2018 10 26 13

1998 12 29 1999

2005 10 27 10 2006
2013 29 12 2014 24
( )
2019 12 28 13
2020
CSRC 2023 17 2023 31
200
30 15
50
30
1993 22

2/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

2002 10

CSRC

CSRC

CSRC

3/290



10

25

4/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

30

10

10

10



20

10

15

30

5/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

30



12

6/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

10



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

7/290



10

CSRC

25

8/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

20

50



12

20

9/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

60
120

¢«

2
€ 10
4
G
(6

20
10 15

a
@
G

4

G

6
@

¢
©)
(10)

1
10/290



Q@
€
“
®
O)
¢

¢!
¢
€]
4
®)
®)
) 30

®
©

10)

Q@
Q@

29

37

11/290

571

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

oOoOooodn
2005 10 27 2006
1
2
2000
341 2011 609
2021 20 10,396,135, 267
2021 22 10,396,135,267
178,635,111
2022 12 31 58,364,586,774 63.78
2018
36
2.50

12/290



10

50

10

15

13/290

10

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

20



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

24

30

(a
(b
(c
(d
(e
(f

@
(h

(i

(k
m
(m

14/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

m
©)

®OO@ ®

147

CSRC

15/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

16/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

20
12

@
®

©

@

©) 30

©) 30
@

12 31
21 120

30

17/290



a

1997

2015

2015

13

14

2008

1996

2015

1996

18/290

29

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

1996

1996 20



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

ooooOoog
20.0
20.0 10
Guo Shui Han[2011] 348
Cai Shui[2014] 81
Cai Shui[2016] 127
20
2008 2019 23
10
(
)
1984 26 10
10

a @

(€

19/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

oOoOooodn
20
1998 30
20
25
2008 2019 23
10
)
1988 10

(¢

2022 12 31

2023

2023 MNE Cap.
112 1RO

1RO
16.5 15.0
200

20/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

2021
0.13
0.26 2021
0.1

(€]

¢

Qa

2

G

21/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

OOooOoOoOoo
)
0)
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
377,124 375,734 393,561 439,553 481,448
(73,426) (73,155) (76,626) (85,581) (93,738)
28,714 29,070 28,640 30,948 33,427
(5,591) (5,660) (5,576) (6,026) (6,508)
21,210 20,517 20,850 25,949 27,593
(4,130) (3,995) (4,059) (5,052) (5,372)
343,069 352,510 363,456 428,678 432,089
(66,796) (68,634) (70,765) (83,464) (84,128)
663,382 703,131 715,096 762,239 807,698
(129,160) (136,900) (139,229) (148, 408) (157,259)
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2004 19 5,318,181,818(# 80,932,368,321 5,318,181,818 80,932,368,321
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268 - - - - 268
5 - 66 229 25 - 320
5 - — - - - -
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16 24,312 4,734 22,389 4,359
17 3,042 592 912 178
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29 (84,772) (16,505) (76,057) (14,808)
30 (54,451) (10,602) (45,088) (8,779)
(448,021) (87,230) (408, 605) (79,555)

33,427 6,508 30,948 6,026

32 Q) @ (1,293) (252)
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- - - - - 5 (233) - (228) - (228)
( ) - - - - - 5 (233) 25,949 25,721 200 25,921
3(a) - 3 - - - - - - 3 1 4
( ) 10,575 - 36,941 - - - - - 47,516 - 47,516
- 463 - - - - - - 463 613 1,076
- - - - - - - - - (116) (116)
- - - - ®) (28) - 31 - (922) (922)
- 42) - - - - - - 42) - 42)
37 - - - - - - - (8,439) (8,439) - (8,439)
26 - - - 2,423 - - - (2,423) - - -
26 - - - - 44 - - 4 - - -
2021 12 31 ( ) 91,507 17,892 47,687 82,277 97 298 (1,170) 190,090 428,678 2,495 431,173
- - - - - - - 27,593 27,593 83 27,676
- - - - - 172) 712 - 540 - 540
- - - - - (172) 712 27,593 28,133 83 28,216
3(a) - (6)] - - - - - - (©)] - (©))
- @ - - - - - - ® - ®
- 1,824 - - - - - - 1,824 1,851 3,675
- - - - - - - - - (89) (89)
- @ - - - - - (€)] 5) @ ©)
37 - - - - - - - (26,537)  (26,537) - (26,537)
26 - - - 2,624 - - - (2,624) - - -
26 - - - - 86 - - (86) - - -
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( ) - - - - - 1 45) 5,052 5,008 39 5,047

3(a) - 1 - - - - - - 1 0 1

( ) 2,059 - 7,192 - - - - - 9,251 - 9,251

- 90 - - - - - - 90 119 209

- - - - - - - - - 3) 23)

- - - - @ ®) - 6 - (180) (180)

- ® - - - - - - ® - ®)

37 - - - - - - - (1,643) (1,643) - (1,643)

26 - - - 472 - - - “72) - - -

26 - - - - 9 - - ©) - - -

2021 12 31 ( ) 17,816 3,484 9,285 16,019 19 58 (228) 37,011 83,464 486 83,949

- - - - - - - 5,372 5,372 16 5,389

- - - - - 33) 139 - 105 - 105

- - - - - (33) 139 5,372 5,477 16 5,494

3(a) - @ - - - - - - @) - @

- ©) - - - - - - © - ©

- 355 - - - - - - 355 360 716

- - - - - - - - - an an

- ©) - - - - - @ @ (O] @

37 - - - - - - - (5,167) (5,167) - (5,167)

26 - - - 511 - - - (511) - - -

26 - - - - 17 - - Qan - - -

2022 12 31 17,816 3,838 9,285 16,530 36 25 (89) 36,688 84,128 845 84,972
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(89,705)  (17,466)  (84,848) (16,520)

(175) (3%) (206) (40)

(1,807) (352) (327) (62)

1,422 277 1,637 319

142 28 82 16

200 39 52 10

- - 3,764 733

(15) (©)) (211) (41)

(2,537) (494) (9,251) (1,801)

1,750 341 11,020 2,146

(b) (8,105)  (1,578) (2,000) (389)
(b) 2,034 396 - -

(96,796)  (18,846)  (80,288) (15,632)

( - - 47,516 9,251
(15,897)  (3,095)  (14,035) (2,733)

3,692 719 38,922 7,578

9.615)  (1,872)  (74,486)  (14,502)

(26,537)  (5,167) (8,439) (1,643)

(90) (18) 112) 22)

o ©) - -

3,675 716 100 19

() 4,411 859 3,190 621

() (541) (105) Q@ (34)

(©) (€Y 3 1

(40,906)  (7,964) (7,518) (1,464)

« Y (1,270) (247) 49,727 9,682
73,284 14,268 23,684 4,611

451 88 @27) (25)

12 31 72,465 14,109 73,284 14,268
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370 72 (595) (116)
(4,302) (838) (2,031) (395)
(496) ©7) (85) an
(449) 87) (2,047) (399)
9,683 1,885 4,225 823
4,293 836 7,009 1,365
(3,165) (616) 7,140 1,390
138,703 27,005 141,868 27,622
1,754 342 1,045 203
(1,993) (388) (2,522) (491)
1,208 235 860 167
(3,240) (631) (3,718) (724)
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43 )

87/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

ooooooo
®)
2022 12 31
1.
2002 10
2022 25 SEC ADS
1934 Form 15F
SEC
90
2. IFRS
1ASB IFRS
IAS 16 IFRS IAS 37 IFRS 2018 2020
IFRS

88/290



(a

(b

2022 12 31
137,708
276,483
IFRS
47
2022 12
«c )

1ASB

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

ooooooo
IFRS
140,665 (2021 12 31
)
) 233,639 (2021 12 31
2022 12 31
Q)
IFRS
2021 2021 12 31
(@) ()

©

89/290



(c

90/290

©

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



«

(e

f

Q)

Q)

EDINETOOOO

OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

30
10
10

Q)

91/290

oOoOooodn



(@

G

IFRS 15

Q)

92/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

u[n[u]uluiuln
@G
IFRS
G
k
IFRS 15

FVTPL
FVTPL

G

93/290



~
-
-

IFRS

ECL

FVTPL
FVTPL
IFRS
ECL
ECL
12
ECL

FVTPL

ECL

FVTOCI

ECL

94/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

FVTOCI

IFRS

FVTOCI

ECL

12



ECL

12

95/290

ECL

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

ECL

ECL ECL



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

(v ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

96/290



a

FVTOCI

97/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



(m

IFRS

98/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

(M
(i)

99/290



(n

IFRS 16

12

100/290

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

Covid-19

101/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)
oOoOooodn

Covid-19

Covid-19

2020 Covid-19

2022 30

IFRS 16

102/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

ooooooo
IFRS 15
IFRS
(o
¢
2022 12 31
4,199 2021 : 3,379
2022 12 31 6,237 2021
3,432 124 2021 : 122
@

45

46

103/290



(r
(s
(t VAT
VAT
13
VAT
VAT
VAT
VAT
VAT
(u

VAT

VAT

VAT

2019

104/290

EDINETOOOO

OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

VAT

ooooooo
VAT 2019
VAT 2019
VAT

VAT



v

(w

x

IAS 12

@

(b)

O)
(i)
D)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

)
v @C )

@

105/290

EDINETOOOO

OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

10

10

oOoOooodn



2021

2021 12 31

2022 12 31

2021

2021 12 31

2022 12 31

2022 12 31

2021 12 31

2021

2021 12 31

2022 12 31

EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

OooooOodd

105,594 896,411 31,162 1,033,167
284 175 325 784
2,466 72,260 1,625 76,351
(1,146) (74,532) (2,960)  (78,638)
107,198 894,314 30,152 1,031,664
1,054 528 365 1,947
2,303 72,836 1,890 77,029
(1,541) (85,846) (2,688)  (90,075)
109,014 881,832 29,719 1,020,565
(64,649) (526,740) (23,173)  (614,562)
(3,997) (65,113) (2.396)  (71,506)
- (119) 0) (121)
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(67,624) (525,237) (22,822)  (615,683)
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(70,009) (514,322) (22,271)  (606,602)
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(76,351)

(6,200)
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(77,029)
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10,364 1,101 11,465
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(151) 4 (110)
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930 487 @ 1,416
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12 31 542
10
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13.
12 31
2022 2021
(i) 1,503 1,436
D) 7,632 5,825
9,135 7,261
G 2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31 1,752 2021 : 1,584
(i
14.
2019 G
G
6 G
6 G
G G
G
G
G
G G

118/290



15.

16.

@i

2022

12

12

2021 12 31
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12 31
2022 2021
433 410
3,080 3,417
3,513 3,827
12 31
2022 2021
27,714 25,067
i) 2,073 1,889
23 9
619 475
30,429 27,440
(6,117) (5,051)
24,312 22,389
30,350 27,339
12 31
2022 2021
6,405 7,164
2,040 1,683
807 692
1,234 928
1,317 1,079
11,803 11,546
(3,335) (2,690)
8,468 8,856
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2022

2022

2021 12 31

2021 12 31

2,142
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12 31
2022 2021
11,817 10,581

3,537 1,909
1,709 2,012
677 563
886 829
18,626 15,894
(2,782) (2,361)
15,844 13,533
1,790
40
12 31
2022 2021
2,937 792
180 139
3,117 931
D) 19
3,042 912
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(a
(b
(c

«
(e

2022 12 31

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

26

25

18

12 23

161

2023 25
2023 24
2023

2023 17
2023 12 22
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12 31
2022 2021
) 8,846 2,756
43 63
199 207
5,582 4,404
(722) (508)
6,296 4,843
3,657 3,184
9,850 9,636
33,751 24,585
8,071
3.3% 2,000
3.3% 4,000
4.3% 80 24 2022
3.9% 25 10 2022
3.3% 2,000
12 31
2022 2021
65,234 71,760
7,231 1,524
72,465 73,284
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2022 12 31
2022 12 31
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«¢»
«¢»
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12 31
2022 2021
2,840 2,821
2,840 2,821
3.3 2021 12 31 3.7
4.1 2021 12 31 3.3 4.4
12 31
2022 2021
1.08  1.20
2036 5,321 6,179
1.25  2.00
2028 178 185
2.30
2032 97 114
5,596 6,478
1 1
- 5,150
2,047 2,046
7,644 13,675
(3,160) (6,280)
4,484 7,395
1.08 1.20



(i 2019 22
21
2019 19
18
Gii 2020 10
2022 12 31

233,639
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0oooood
3.42 3,000
2022
3.41 2,000
2022

2.90 2,000
2023
12 31
2022 2021

3,160 6,280

1,079 3,103

1,045 1,028

743 995

328 647

1,289 1,622

7,644 13,675
2022 12 31

2021 12 31 276,483
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12 31
2022 2021
98,076 89,299
23,971 21,013
4,340 3,914
873 667
127,260 114,893
12 31
2022 2021
22,078 20,291
28,308 23,965
33,280 36,338
43,594 34,299
127,260 114,893
12 31
2022 2021
19,841 15,249
1,590 1,596
19 22
25,404 24,041
952 1,029
5,844 5,777
11,579 8,051
65,229 55,765
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24.

25.

2021 12 31

1.00
1.00
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12 31
2022 2021
67,570 70,713
271 198
- 3
67,841 70,914
2022 12 31
12 31
2022 2021
14,488 13,810
13,225 8,780
35,655 14,447
3,528 5,367
66,896 42,404
(14,488) (13,810)
52,408 28,594
12 31
2022 2021
77,629,728,699 77,630 77,630
13,877,410,000 13,877 13,877
91,507 91,507
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2021 1 1
¢ 30
«c C»
« ™)
2021 12 31
¢ 3N
«c C»
« o)
2022 12 31
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(@) (D)) W) (D))

17,468 10,746 79,854 56 321 (937) 175,016 282,524
- - - - 5 (233) 25,949 25,721
3 - - - - - - 3
- 36,941 - - - - - 36,941
463 - - - - - - 463
- - - ®) (28) - 31 -

(42) - - - - - - (42)

- ; i, - - - (8,439) (8,439)
- - 2,423 - - - (2,423) -
- - - 44 - - (49) -
17,892 47,687 82,277 97 298 (1,170) 190,090 337,171
- - - - 172) 712 27,593 28,133

(€)) - - - - - - (©)

@ - - - - - - @
1,824 - - - - - - 1,824
@ - - - - - (©) ®)

- , - - . - (26,537) (26,537)
- - 2,624 - - - (2,624) -
- - - 86 - - (86) -
19,710 47,687 84,901 183 126 (458) 188,433 340,582
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2021 12 31

« 3N

2022 12 31
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«» «C» «» (iv))

28,803 10,746 79,854 132 145,351 264,886
_ _ - 45 24,234 24,279
- 36,941 - - - 36,941
(42) - - - - 42)
_ - - - (8,439) (8,439)
_ - 2,423 - (2,423) -

28,761 47,687 82,277 177 158,723 317,625
- - - (123) 26,244 26,121
) - - - - @)
- - - - (26,537) (26,537)
_ - 2,624 - (2,624) -

28,759 47,687 84,901 54 155,806 317,207
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(i )
)
©
(ii FVTOCI
(iii
50
IFRS 10
2022 2021 12
31 IFRS
2022 12 31 10 2,624 2021 2,423
2022 12 31 38,822 2021 12
31 36,198
2022 2021 12 31 2022 2021 12 31
46,079
25
(iv
IFRS 2022 12 31
IFRS 155,806 2021 12 31 :158,723
2022 6,955
« 3N
v 2012 [2012] 20
1.5
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(i

Gii

(iv

(v

2022 2021 12

31

EDINETOOOO

OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

2022 2021
434,928 402,828
() 191,026 184,158
D) 118,534 113,522
Giii) 117,756 98,945
(iv) 7,612 6,203
) 46,520 36,725
481,448 439,553
472,952 431,911
8,496 7,642
481,448 439,553
40,039 31,332
441,409 408,221
481,448 439,553

e-Surfing HD
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G

2022 2021
88,682 79,377
18,055 16,209

(i) 28,173 25,318
12,679 12,436
147,589 133,340
2022 2021
53,347 48,576
31,425 27,481
84,772 76,057
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30.
2022 2021
(1) 13,052 12,858
(i) 39,592 30,415
6 12
(i) 1,801 1,803
54,451 45,088
G
(i
(iii
31.
2022 2021
47,290 45,157
2,804 2,904
2,982 2,865
O) 4,199 3,379
- 59 57
- 6 7
6,937 6,785
64,277 61,154
O)
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2022 2021
1,425 1,399
556 1,110
(100) (105)
1,881 2,404
(1,808) (1,104)
(66) ™
7 1,293
3.4 3.6% 3.0  4.5%
2022 2021
3,676 3,606
177 215
4,185 3,895
8,038 7,716
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@i

25

25

35

2022 2021
35,714 33,865
O] 8,929 8,466
(1,061) (738)
O (764) (495)
(i) (54) (70)
(i) 821 1,036
(iv) (568) (522)
803 245
() (68) (206)
8,038 7,716

15
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34.
2022
7
- 234 352 110 - 696
1 - 137 141 59 - 337
- 221 331 105 - 657
- 209 316 104 - 629
2 - 209 313 104 - 626
3
4 491 - - - - 491
4 250 - - - - 250
268 - - - - 268
268 - - - - 268
5 - 66 229 25 - 320
5 _ _ - _ - _
- 253 720 110 - 1,083
- 226 720 106 - 1,052
- 115 729 85 - 929
6 - 158 511 89 - 758
6 _ _ _ _ - _
1,277 1,828 4,362 897 - 8,364
1 2022 12
2 2022 22
3
4 2022 16
2023
5 2022 22
6 2022 22
7
8 2022 2021 1,080 127
970 254
9

134/290



EDINETOOOO
OO000oO000OO00D0DO000DO000nDOodnoE.s27)

ooooooo
2021
5
- 234 352 119 - 705
- 234 359 119 - 712
- 211 317 114 - 642
- 209 313 102 - 624
1 - 209 313 95 - 617
2 - 44 - 11 - 55
3
450 - - - - 450
250 - - - - 250
245 - - - - 245
245 - - - - 245
4 - 235 688 100 - 1,023
- 222 747 100 - 1,069
- 195 690 98 - 983
- 112 338 80 - 530
4 _ _ - _ - _
1,190 1,905 4,117 938 - 8,150
1 2021 12 27
2 2021 19
3
4 2021 12 17
2022 22
5
6 2021 2020 416 381
343 369 364
7
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35.
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@
2022 2021 12 31
2021

2022 2021
7,218 5,321
5,599 4,977
777 479
13,594 10,777

2021

2022 2021
0 1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 2,000,000 - 1

2,000,001 5
()

2022 2021
0 1,000,000 17 18
1,000,001 1,500,000 2 -
1,500,001 2,000,000 - -

36.
2022 12 31 26,244
2021 12 31 24,234
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37.
2023
31
2022

0.120

2022
0.170
2022

2021
0.104269

38.

2022

39.

2022

@

(b)

40.

2022

22
6,955

16
0.139523
2022

19
0.197211

0.125

2021 12 31

25,949

2021 12 31

2021 12 31
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2022 12 31 0.076
2022 12
2022 30
10,981 9,316
1,665 2022 10 14
2021 12 31
15,556 13,197
2,359 2022 18
2020 12 31
8,439 2021 1
27,593
91,507,138,699 84,442 ,405,521
12 31
2022 2021
1,584 1,831
15,023 18,942
16,607 20,773
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@)

IFRS 13

2022 12 31
762 2021 12 31 942

2022 12 31 525
2021 12 31 522
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2.9 4.9

2021 12 31 2.9 4.9 2022 2021 12 31

2022 12 31 2021 12 31

7,644 7,613 13,675 13,444

()
(D
ECL
10
ECL
2022

2021 12 31

ECL
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2022 12 31
2 6,164 123
20 1,975 389
60 781 468
80 1,213 970
100 1,317 1,317
11,450 3,267

2021 12 31
2 7,164 133
20 1,683 329
60 692 407
80 928 742
100 1,079 1,079
11,546 2,690
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2022 12 31
2 8,253 189
12 23 2,405 548
68 869 595
100 379 379
100 608 608
12,514 2,319
2021 12 31
3 7,299 182
12 21 1,068 223
65 948 619
97 364 355
100 467 467
10,146 1,846
2022 12 31 6,117 75
2021 5,051 19 2022 12 31

466 2021 : 517
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2022 2021
5,051 4,434
2,027 1,689

(961) (1,072)
6,117 5,051
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2022 12 31
2,840 2,884 2,884 - - -
7,644 8,595 3,226 1,187 2,509 1,673
127,260 127,260 127,260 - - -
42,056 42,201 42,201 - - -
66,896 73,034 16,163 14,685 38,195 3,991
143 152 - 152 - -
246,839 254,126 191,734 16,024 40,704 5,664

2021 12 31
2,821 2,870 2,870 - - -
13,675 15,038 6,415 3,218 3,201 2,204
114,893 114,893 114,893 - - -
35,111 35,241 35,241 - - -
42,404 46,070 15,194 9,557 15,560 5,759
34 34 12 22 - ;
208,938 214,146 174,625 12,797 18,761 7,963

20)
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(i)
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
3.3 2,403 3.6 2,146
1.4 7,644 2.1 13,675
10,047 15,821
3.5 437 3.7 675
437 675
10,484 16,496
95.8% 95.9%
2022 12 31 95.8 2021 12 31
95.9
(iv)
2022 12 31 94.3 (2021 12 31  89.6 )

97.4 (2021 12 31 98.2 )

20
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41.

12 31

42.

2021

2021 12 31

)

2022 12 31

2022 12 31 17,427
66,896 2021 12 31 13,016 42,404
1.3 2021 12 31 2.2%
(@)

27,994 25,348 - 40,647 - 9,826 978 104,793
(23,473) (12,091) - (14,035) (8,551) 3,190 - (54,960)
- (18) - ®) - - - (26)

- - - 17,082 - - - 17,082
(1,700) - - 42) - - - (1,742)
N - - - - - (978) (978)

- - - - 116 - - 116

- - - - 8,439 - - 8,439
- 436 - (1,240) - - - (804)

2,821 13,675 - 42,404 4 13,016 - 71,920
19 (6,115) 173 (15,897) (26,627) 4,411 - (44,036)

- 18 - 94 - - - 112

- - - 44,961 - - - 44,961

- - - - 89 - - 89

- - - - 26,537 - - 26,537
- 66 1,356 (4,666) - - - (3,244)

2,840 7,644 1,529 66,896 3 17,427 - 96,339
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@ 2022 12 31 17,427 2021 12 31 13,016
22
(i 2022 12 31 44,036
2021 54,960
541 2022 12 31 2021 177
@
14A
2022 2021
O) 16,993 15,869
(i) 22,309 22,613
(i) 48* 52
(i) 102* 131
(iv) 4,340 3,899
w) 3,572 3,242
w) 870 2,280
(vi) 51 50
(vii) 715 638
(vii) 463 240
(vii) 21 17
(viii) 1,944 1,186
(viii) 4,834 3,548
(ix) 4,249 4,105
(ix) 4,692 3,901
(€3] 57 60
* (xi) - 356
(xii) - 4,072
xiii) 1,068 802
(xiv) 442 216
( )* xv) 4,411 3,190
* xv) 238 182
xv) 8,105 2,000
(xv) 2,034 -
xv) 201 1
(xvi) 2,212 -
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14A.76 14A.90

(i

(iv

(v

(vi

(ix

(x (

i ( 20

(xv)

(xvi)
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12 31

2022 2021
( )
2,073 1,889
180 139
8,846 2,716
92 45
23,971 21,013
19,841 15,249
271 198
1,529 -
652 501

18(i)
42 i
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®
2022 2021
(1) 12,193 11,438
O) 2,239 2,829
O) 387 630
(i) 30 31
(i) (iii) 33,518 -
@
(i)
(i)
2022 12 31 2023 2027 12
31
12 31
2022 2021
23 9
43 45
4,340 3,914
1,590 1,596
- 3
40,339 13,806
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2022 2021
11,400 10,289
1,059 1,032
12,459 11,321
(
43(2)) 43(b))
)
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12 31

2022 2021
393,043 404,882
49,966 44,018
83,693 60,288
29,877 29,877
18,992 18,093
9 33,086 30,716
41,878 40,901
3 -
757 921
3,272 6,196
8,586 6,832
663,153 642,724
1,460 1,301
37 419
20,491 19,178
2,054 600
16,887 16,598
534 14
47,733 50,812
89,196 89,012
752,349 731,736
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12 31
2022 2021

26,964 28,421
3,160 6,280
108,354 105,447
43,052 41,921
59,639 63,439
526 196
14,039 13,555
255,734 259,259
(166,538) (170,247)
496,615 472,477
4,484 7,395
51,131 28,168
27,608 26,400
4,678 1,382
87,901 63,345
343,635 322,604
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12 31
2022 12 31
2022 12 31
)
46.
2018 11 2,394
2021
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12 31
2022 2021
91,507 91,507
26 317,207 317,625
408,714 409,132
752,349 731,736
14 20
2022
2021
9,915 2021 12 31 9,043
923 (2021 12 31 : 737
3.81
2020 11
33.3 66.7 100.0
1 24

2.686
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0000000
2022 2021
4,716,560,000 2,317,800,000
- 2,401,745,000
(1,320,000) (2,985,000)
12 31 4,715,240,000 4,716,560,000
2022 2021 12 31 2022 12 31
1,009 2021 505
2022 12 31 1,579 2021 12 31 571
47.
ECL
ECL
60 20 20 ECL
(CPD) (PPD) (GDP)
ECL
ECL ECL 40 16
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Q)

2022 2021 12 31
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48. 2022 12 31

1ASB
2022 12 31
IFRS 17 2023
1AS 2023
1AS IFRS 2023
1AS 2023
IAS 12 2023
IFRS 10 IAS 28
1ASB 2022 12 31
49.
2022 12 31
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

al 31 Decambear 2022 (Amounts in million)

31 December 31 Decamiber

2022 2021
Notes RMB AME
irestatad)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and squipmsnt, nat 4 413,963 415,081
Consiruction in progress 5 58,443 51,457
Right-of-uss assels & 87,055 61,187
Goodwil T 28,922 20,019
Intangible asssts a 20,780 18,755
Inforests in assockates and joint venturos 10 42,220 41,166
Fnancial assels a1 fair value through profit or joss 402 248
Equity Instrumants at fair vals through other
COMprehansie nooms 11 885 1,216
Deterred 1ax assats 12 3821 €688
Oier assats 13 9,135 7.261
Total non-current assets GEE 626 534,876
Current assots
Inventcries 15 3513 3,827
Incoma 1ax recoveratie 154 437
Accounts recevabla, nat 16 24,312 22,350
Conlract assets 17 3,042 12
Prepaymants and othar curment assels: 1 33,751 24,585
Short-larm bank deposits and resticted cash 3,835 1929
Cash end cash equivaiants 19 72,465 73,284
Total current assets 141,072 127 383"

Total assets BOT 626 TEZ,239
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 December 2022 (Amounts in milicn)|

MM Dacomber 31 Decamber

2022 202
Motes RMB RME
fretated
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Gurrent liabilities
Shorl-terrn debis 20 2,840 2,821
Current porticn of long-term debls 20 3,160 6,280
Accounts payabile 21 127,260 114,803
Accrued expenses and other payabies 22 65_2;3 55,765
Contract liabiities 23 67,841 70,914
income tax payabis a18 588
Current portion of leass lisbities 24 14,488 13,810
Total current liabilities 281,737 265,071
Net current liabilitios {140,665) (137.708)
Total assets less current liabilities 525,061 497,168
Non-current labilities
Lorkg-tarrm dibls 20 4,484 7395
Lease liabiities 24 52 408 28, 504
Daforred ta labilitas 12 27,945 26677
Other pon-cuerent iabiities 4,687 3328
Total mon-current Habilities 80,534 65,805
Total liabilities 371,271 331,066
Equity
Share capital 25 91,507 91,507
Resanves 26 Mﬂm.-':g‘i e |
Total equity attributable to equity _
halders of the Company 432,089 428,678
Mon-controdling interests 4,338 2485
Total squity 436,427 431473
Total liabilities and equity 807 608 TE2 238

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2023 and ana signed on its behaifl Dy

Ke Rulwen Li ¥inghul
Executive Direcior, Expcutive Director, Executive Vice Frasident,
Chairman and Chiel Executive Officar Chind Financial Olfficer and Secretary of tha Board

Tha notes on pages 183 1o 38T form part of these consolidated financial sialements,

158/290



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
ooOooood

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Amounts in millon excapt for per share dala)

2022 2024
Netos AME AME
frestated)
Operating revenuas ar 481,448 438,553
Operating expanses
Dapraciaton and amortisation {98,932} {32 966)
Network operations and support 28 (147 588) (133,340}
Safiing; general and adminstrative 3 {64.277) {E1,154)
Parsonnol axponses g {84,772) {TE.0ET)
Other operating expensas a0 {54,451) {45088)
Total operating expenses (448,021} {4068, BOSY
Operating profit 33427 30,048
MNat francs costs 32 [Ty (1.293)
Irvestment income and others. 243 2,244
Snare of prafits of associates and joint veniures 2,051 1,066
Profit befors taxation 35,714 33885
Incoms tax 33 (8,038) (7. 746)
Profit for the year 27 6T 26,149

Other comprehensive income for the year -
{tams that will not be reclassitiad stbssquenthy o profit or loss:
Changa in fair vaiue of immestments inequity instnsments at
fair valus through other comprahansive incoms {222) 20
Deferred tax on.change in fair value of iInvesiments i aguly
Instruments at {air value through ofher comprehenshe
income 50 (15}
[172) 5

Mems that may be reclassifled subsequently to profit or loss;
Exchange difierence on iranslation of finencial statamants of

subsidisries outside mainland China 712 (233
712 253
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 540 {328}

Total comprahensive income for the year 28,216 25,821
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Amounis in milkon except for per shara data)

2022 2021
Mates RMB RMEB
fresiated;
Profit attributable to

Ecuity hoiders of the Campery 27,593 25,948
Mon-controfing interests B3 200
Profit for the year 27 676 26,148

Total comprehensive income attributable to
Equity holdars of the Company 28,133 25721
Total comprehensive income for the year 28,216 25,921
Basic earnings per shars [RMEB) 38 0.30 0.31
Diluted earnings par share (RME) a8 0.30 0.31
Number of shares (in million) 25 91,507 91,507

Tha noles on pages 183 o 287 form part of thesa consolidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Amounts in millon)

Aftsbastable 1 equety boders o the Company
San  Cpld S Sups h: Ofw Exchonge  Reksined m: Tetd

we RB TAB MR s Am R M AR A me e
B it 1 oy SO MY UM wmne T ] e B} A EEE. IR BIE
ot by s e i) - - - - - - - EME oEMm oW Ew
[ s s T i - - - - - M - W8 - pE
TWMW}& - - - - - Topm BN OB N EE
Jebustns oty cemtraton L
ey - 3 = = - - - . i 1 4
Bﬁmﬁhmm i - EM - . . B = HE - AR
Cortrbairhm ot rieests - g - - - - - - B B im
i s rp-carileg oS - - - - - - - - - Mg 1R
o of ieciares - - - - A @ - A -
Srurs sl e ot
i s - b 2 2 a 2 - £ ] = el
Tty ) - = = 2 - - - g8 B = A
o sy A e 8 - - - ug - - - 3 - - -
kppdmtgadisians ¥ E : = : u : 2 m : Z :
Eafren as 31 Dot 2001,
e e G S T~ g W N e R i AR
Frodt by e - - - - - - - O® ns B nEE
C cerrprsherso e U - - . - - fm om ] - M
Tod e o e - 2 - - - m nm  Bw .
Consgersion by enfty euter s
seon el H S Ll 2 . - - & - ]
Acpitter dhin vl st = il = E = = = = L] = m
Conbution fom ponanig st - 1AM - - - - - - B @ U
Dignbaion 3 erecor e ety - - - - - . - . . A =
Srors o apstite it e
o s s - & - . - - - <] ] ] ]
Oniwrets ¥ - - - - - - - @R @R - @
ks beRiy ek B - - . 1M - - - e . - -
Ao b pareed S s & - - - - ® - - 5 - - -
Sren s 0137 Degabar 2000 AN BN MET O OMEE 1 1 B B M 4 g

The nolas on pages 193 o 287 form pan of these consobdated financial stalaments.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the yaar ended 31 December 2022 [Amounis in milkon)

2022 20
Meates RMB RAMB
{rastabed)
Met cash from operating activities =] 136,432 137,533
Cash flows used in investing activities
Capital expenditure {88,705) (B4,.848)
Purchase of investments {175) f208)
Payments for right-of-usa assats [1,807) (@27
Proceads from disposal of property. plant and equipmiant 1422 1.637
Prixceeds from disposal of righl-of-use sssets 142 82
Procoeds from disposal of investments 200 52
Mat cash infiow from dsposal of subdidianes - 3.764
Payrants for aquity instruments at fair value theaugh
ather comprehensive Income (15 (211)
Purchase of short-term bank deposits (2,537) (2,251)
Maturity of shost-term bank deposits 1,750 11,020
Short-term loans granted to China Telsconm Group by
Finance Company (2] (6,105) (2,000
China Telecom Group's repaymants of sho-tarm loans
granted by Finance Company 1=1] 2,034 =
Met cash used in investing activities [26,708) {80288
Cash flows used in financing activities
Proscaeds frorm A Shares Offaring, net of ssulng sxpanses - 47 516
Fepayments of principal of leass labilties {15,887) {14,035)
Procesds from bank and other loans 3,692 38,922
Fepaymants of bank and other lcans (8,615 (74488
Payment of divdends [26,537) (8439
Distribution to noa-controling Interssts (a) (112)
Paymant for the acquesition of non-condroling intenes!s: 1) -
Conmribution from non-controling nterests 3675 100
Mat deposits with Finance Company ] 4411 3.190
inerease in statutony deposit ressnses placed by
Fnance Comparny =] (541) 177
(Considaration pad'Coninioutian from shareholders for "
antity combinatian undar common control (3 a
Met cash used in financing activities {40,206) F.518)
Met ([decraase)/increase in cash and cash equivalents [1,270) 48,727
Gash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 73,284 23684
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rata 451 127)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 72,465 73284
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 Decembear 2022 (Amaunts in mificn)

{a) RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO NET CASH

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
2022 2021
RMB AMB
[restated)
Profit before taxation 5,714 33,866
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation 06,032 92,966
impainont kosses for financial assats, net of revarsal 2,340 1,818
Wirite-diown of investories, net of réversal (&) &3
Imvestment income and others (243) (2,244}
Srare of profits of associates and joint venilres {2,051) 1,966)
Interast Income {1,808) [1,104)
et interest expense 1,881 2,404
Mat forsign eschange gan and olhers (B6) it}
et loss on ratramant and disposal ol long-ived assets and clhars 6,158 6,095
138,796 131,807
increase In accounts recavabis (3,842} (32T}
Increase in contract assals (2,185} 318
Decreasalincraass) in imventoriss aro {505
Increass in prepayments and other curent assats {4,302} (2,031}
Increasa in restnicted cash {496) (85}
Increass in other assats {448) [2.047)
inciease In acoounts payable 8,683 4,225
Increass n accrusd sxpanses and other payablas 4,293 008
{Decrease)increass in contract kabdities {3,165) 7,140
Cash generated from operations 138,703 141,885
Interast recetved 1,754 1,045
Interast paid (1,983) (2,522}
Imvesiment income received 1,208 880
Incame Lae peaidd (3,240) (3,718}

Net cash from operating activities 136,432 137,533

163/290



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
Oooooooa

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Armounis in millon)

{b] “Financea Company” réfers to China Telecom Growp Finance Co., Lid., a subsidizey of the Company aestablished
on & January 2019, which provides capital and financial management services to the member units of
China Telecommunications Corporation, the parent and ultimate holding company of the Company. These
Transactions are conductad on nommal commercial termes o battar.

(c) SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the yaar endad 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did notl have sigrificant non-cash investing and
financing actvithes, axcept lor the additions of nght-ol-use asseis and lease Iabiikes Enchuding ncrekses. in
right-al-use assels and lease llabdibes arising from the Company’s entering Inte. Commencial Pricing Agreement
and Service Agresmant wilh China Tower Corporation Limited ("China Tower™) this year, which was accountad
for @5 bease modiication, further information i3 et out in Mote 43004,

Tha noles on pages 193 o 287 form part of these consolidated financial stalements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the yedr endad 31 December 2022

1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, ORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION

China Telecom Corporation Limited (the “Company™) was ncorporated in the People’s Repubtlic of China
(tha “PRCT on 10 September 2002. The Company and its subsidianes (hereinattar; collectively refermad to as
ihe “Group’) i5-a leading and large-scale full-sarvice: and Integrated Inteligent Information sanaces provider,
providing Its inchvidual, household, government and enterprise customers with integrated intefligent nformation
HANAcES,

The Company Sled a Form 15F with the LS. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SECT) on 25 February
2022 to deregister the Amarican Depositary Shares (the “ADSSs") and tarminate its reporting obligation under
the LLS. Securities Exchange Azt of 1934, as amended (the "LLS, Exchange Act’) The denegisiration and
terminaticn of reporting cbligation therefore became effective 90 days alter the fiking a3 the application was
naither withdranwn by the Company nor chisclad to by the SEC.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”")

Iry the cument year, the Group has spplied, for the' frst time, the following amendments bo IFRSs ssued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASE") that ars mandatorily aflective for the current year:

Arnandments bo WAS 16, IFRS 3, IAS 37 and “Annogl mprovements to IFRS Standords 2018-2020°

Tha application af the above amendmants to IFRSs in the current year has had no malarial elect on the
Group's consolidaled financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statemants have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as issued by
the LASB. For the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered malenal i such information s reasonably expected to infusnce decisions made by primary
LSS, The consobidated financial staternents also comply with the disclosurs requiremants of 1he Hong
Keng Companes Crdinance and 1the appicable desclosuns provisions of the: Fules: Goverming ihe Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchangs of Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Fules™).

As at 31 Decembar 2022, the tolal cument liatities of the Growp had exceaded the lolal cument assats
by RMB140,665 milion {31 Decamber 2021; RMB137,708 millon), Manggemen! of the Company have
assassad the Group's avallable sources of funds as follows: 1) the Group's continuous met cash infiow
to be generated from ils operating activities; 2) the unutiised credit faciities amounting to AMBZ35.630
million (31 December 2021: AMBZTE,483 milion); and 3) the Group's other avallable sources of
financing from domestic banks in maintand China and other financial Institutions in view of the Group's
geod credit histony. Basad on the above considartions, the Board of Direchars is of the opinion thal the
Group has sufficlent funds- o meat It weeking capital commitments, expected capital expend ture and
dabtl obfigations. As a rasull, the consolidated financial slatemants of tha Group Tor the yaar andad 31
Decarriber 2022 his bean prepared on 8 going condcarm basis.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basls a8 modified by the
revaluation of certain fnandial instrumeants measured al Tair valua (Mota 3.

The preparation of consofdated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires. managamant
o make judgmenis, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported
amounts of azsets and hiabiites and discioswee of conbingert assets and kabiktes al the date of 1he
consoiidated financial statements and the reported amounis: of revenues and expenses duning 1he
reporing pariod, The ssfimatas and assumplions ars based on histoncal experence and various other
faciors thal managemsent believes are reasonable under the croumatances, the results of which form
the basis of making the- judgmenis: about camving values of assets and llabilities that are not readily
apparent from othar sowrces. Achual results may diler kom those estimates.

The eatimates and assumplions ans reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 10 accounting estimates

are recognised in the peniod in which the estimate s revisad | the revision affects only that period or in
tha paniod of the revision and futurs panods if the revison atfects both cument and fulure parods.

166/290



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
Oooooooa

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decamibar 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Judgrments made by managernant in the application of IFRSs that have significant sifect on 1he
conscicated finencial stalemeants and maor sources of estimation uncertanty are discussed in Note 47,

I Decembar 2022, China Telscom Intalligant Network Technology Co., Lid., a subsidiary of
the Company, acquired equity interest in Besya (Shanghal) Technology Co., Lid. (the: *Acquired
Company”) from Tianyl Technotogy Venture Capital Co,. Ltd,, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Telecommunications Corporation, and Shanghal Yizhiying Intelligent Technology Partnership (Limited
Partrership]. a wholly-owned subsiciary of Shanghai Yizhichuang: Management Consuiting Co., Lid,,
& holdng subsidieny of Tiamyl Technology Vanture Capltal Co., Lid,, at totel purchase prices of AMEB2
millicn and RMB1 million respectively,

Since the Group and the Acquired Company are undsr cammoen control of China Telecommunications
Corporation, the Group’s acquisition of the Acguired Company has been accounted for as a
combination of entitles under common control, Accordingly, the Acquired Company s stated at
predecessor values, and were included In the consolidated Bnencial statemnents from the beginning of
e sarliest period prasented as i the Acquired Company acquired had always been part of the Group.
As a rasull, the Group has restated the 2021 comparative amounls of the consolidatad statement of
compeshensive incoms by ncluding the operating results of the Acguised Company and eliminating its
transactions with the Acouired Compeny. The consobdated statement of financial position of the Group
as at 31 Dacember 2021 was restaled 1o includs the assels and liabilities of the Acquired Commpany.
For tha vears prasented, sl signifcant transactions and balances botween the Group and the Asauinsd
Company have boen eliminated on combination.

(b) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements comgpriss tha Company and ifs subsidiaries and the Group's
niferasts in assoctates and foind veniues.

A subsidiary is an entity controlied by the Company, Whan fulfiling the fallowing conditions; tha
Company has contral ever an enity; () has pawer over the investes, (b) has exposune; or fghts, to
‘varisbie retums from (i imeohwement with the imestes, and (c) has the abifty to use Its power over the
mvesies to allect the amount of the Investor's retums.

When assessing whether the Company has power over thal entity, only substantve nights fheid by the
Company and olher partias) are considenad,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{b) Basis of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

The financial results of subsidianes are included in the consolidated francial statements from the date
that control commencas untl the dale that control ceases, and the proft attributable to non-controding
interests is saparately prasentad on tha tace of the consclidated statement of comprehenshe Income
gz an dlocation of the profit or loss for the year between the non-controlling Inferests and the equity
holders of the Company, Non-conbroling interesis represent the equity in subsidianes not atiributabie
directly of indrectly o the Company. For sach business combination, ofher than business combination
ursder common controd, the Group measunes the non-controliing ntenaests al the proportionate sharae, of
the acquisition date, of fair valus of the: subsidiany's net identifiable assels. Non-controfing: interasts at
the end of the reporting period are presentad in the consolidated. statament of nancial position within
equity and conscidated statement of changes in equity, separately from the equity of the Company’s
equity holcers. Changes in the Group's interests in a subsiciary that do not result in a loss of control
ane acoounted for as equity ransachons, whideby adiustments ans made 1o The amaounts of conireling
and non-controling infarasts within consclidated equity 1o reflect the changa In relatve interests, but
no adustments ars mads to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised, When the Group loses control
of a subsiciary, it is accountad for as a disposal of the entire imtarast in thal subsidiary, with'a resuiting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or oss: Any interest retained in that former subsidiany at the date
whsn control is. lost |s recognesed al fer value and this amount 15 regarded a3 the fair value on initia
recognibon of & financial assel or, when eppeopriate, the coston intial recognition of an investment in an
associate of A joint verbure,

An associate is an antity, not being a subsidary, in which the Group exercisas significant influence, but
not control, owver iis management, Significant infusncs ks the power to participals in the financlal and
cperating policy decisions of the Irvestes bul ts not control or joint confrol over those polices.

An imastment in an associate 3 accountad ke in the consolidated Srancial statoments undar the sty
rrwathod:and is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for sy excoss of the Group's shara of The aoquisiion-
date far vaiuas of tha investea™s nal identiiable assals over the cost of tha invastmant (if any) after
reassessment, Thereafter, the imvestment is adiusted for the Group's equity share of the post-acguisition
changss in ihe assoclate’s net assets and any impairment koss relating o the investment. When the
Groun ceases to have significant infuence over an associate, It is accounted for as a disposal of the
entre intenest in that investes, with a resulting gain or loss being recogrised In profit or loss. Ay Interast
ratained in ihal former imestes at the dale when significant influance is lost s recogresad at fair value
and this amount |5 regardad as the fair valus on inilial recogrition of a financial assal,

Al slgreficant infercompany belances and transactions and unrealised gaing aising from intercompany
transactions &e elimnated on consokdation, Unreslissd gains ariging from transactions with associates
ane aliminated o the extent of the Group's interest in the entity, Uirmealised lossas ane elimirated in the
SHNE Wiy a5 unmaised gans, but only o the axtent that thene is no evidence of imparmeant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the yvear endad 31 Decemibar 2082

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{c) Foreign currencies translation

The accompanying conscidated financial statements are prasented in Renminbi (AMBT. The: functional
currency of e Company and (ts subsidieries i maniand Ching 5 AME. The functionsl currency of the
Geoup's torelgn operations |s-the cumency of the: premary economic emdircmement in which the foreign
oparafions operate. Transactions denominated in currencies ather than the funclional cumency during
the year are translated into the funclional cumency at the appicabie rates of exchange prevaiing on
the transaction dates, Foreign currency monetary assats and Rabilities are ranslated into the functional
currency using the applicabde axchange rales af the end of the repoarting parkod. The resulting exchange
diferences, other than thoss capatalised as construchion in progress (Note 3(el), &e recognisad as
ncome or eogenas In profit or logs. For the years presented, no exchangs diferences were caplialised,

Whan preparnng he Group’s consolidated Bnancial staternants, the nesults of operations of the Group’s
forelgn oparations are fransiated into AME at the exchange raies approximating the forelgn exchange
rate muling &t the dates of transactions. Assets and Rabilites of the Group's foreign opédations are
trarsiated into FAE al the foneign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reperting pariod, The resiting
axchange differences are recognised in other comprehenshvi income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange rasenve.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Praparty, plant and equipment are initially racorded at cost, less subsaguent accumulated dapreciation
and impearment 0586 (Nole (). The coot of an agset compyises its purchase price, any coals directy
atiributable to bringing the assat to working condition and lecation for s intended Lse and the cos! of
bomowed funds wsad during the panods of construction, Expenditung incumed after 1he asset has been
put into operalion, ncluding ookt of replacing part of such an ilerm, S capitalissd only wWhen it incraases
the fliture econcmic benefits embodied in the Rem of property, piant and equipment and the cost can
be measurad raliably. Al other sxpendilure is sxpensed &s i ks incurred,

Gang of losses ansing from refirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment & determined as

the difference batwean the nat dsposal procaeds and the carmying amount of the respective assat and
e recognised &5 Noomea of expansa in he pralit o loss onthe date of reiremant o dsposal,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

{d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depraciation ks provided to wiite off 1the cost of sach assef over is estimated usedu lile on a straight-ine
basis, after taking into account its estimated resicual value, as iodows:

Depreciable
lives primarily Residual
range from rate
Budlcings and fmpeovements. 81030 years 3%
Communications natwork plant and aduipment 5 bar 10 yoars 0%-3%
Furniture, fixture, motor velhicles and other equipment Sto 10 years 0%-3%

Whera parts of an lem of property, plant and equipment have diffsrent usefuil fives, the cost of the item
15 allocated on a reascnable basis babwean the pans and each part is depreciated saparately, Both tha
useiul e of an assel and i residual value are revewed annually and any change will be accounted for as
changs in accounting estimate.

(8} Construction in progress

Caonstruction in progress represents bulldings, communications nebwark plant and equipment and other
squipmaent and intengibls ases under construction end pending instaliation, and is stated af cos! less
impaimment lossas (Mote 3. The cost of an ilem comprises direct costs of construction, capitaisation
of interest charge, and foreign exchange differances on related borrowed funds to the axtant that they
are regarded as an adustment 1o intarest charges during the perods of construction. Capitalisation of
these costs ceases and the construction in progress s transferred to propsriy, plant and equipment and
Intangiole assais whan Iha asset is substantialy ready for its intended uss,

Mo depraciation is provided in respect of construcBon in progress,
) Goodwill

Goodwil represents the excess of the investment cost over the Group's Interest in the tair value of the
real @58e18 acquired in the mobils commurications business (a5 dafined in Mate 7) acquisition.

Goodwill s atated at cost lese any accumdulated impairment loeses, Goodwill ks aliccatad to cash-
genarating units and is tested anrually for impairment (Mote 3. On disposal of & cash-genarating urit
ciuring 1 year, any altributable amaunt of the goochwill B inciuded in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the yvear endad 31 Decamibar 2082

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{g) Intangible assets
The Group's intangie assats are pamarnily software,

Software that Is not an integral part of any tangible assets; s recorded at cost less subsequent
accumulaled amortisation and impairmant lossas (Mole 3} Amortisation ol soltware is mainly
caculahed on a straight-ling basis over the estimated uselul Ives, which mainly range from 3 to § years,

(h} Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

The carmying amounts of the Group's long-Ived assets, including property, plant and equipment, nght-
of-isa assets, intangible assats with fnite wsatul lives, construction in progress and confract cosls
ncluded in other assets are reviewsd pariodically to detemine whether thare is any indication of
Impairment. These assets are tested for Impaiment whenever events o changes In clrcumstances
indicate that their recorded camying amounts may not be recoverable. For goodwill, the impairment
teesting fs performed annually at each year end, or mene frequently I events o changes in crcumsiances
indicate that they might be impaired,

Bafore the Group recogrises an imparment loss for assats capitaisad as copfract costs under IFRS
15, "Revenue from Contracts with Custamers” [IFRS 157, the Group sssesses and recognises
any impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracis in sccordance with applicable
standards. Then, impairment loss, i any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised 1o the
atant tha carrying amounts excesds 1 remaring amoont of congideration that the Group expects
tor receive in exchange for refated goods or senices bess the costs which relate disectly to providing
thass goods or senices that have not been recognised as expenses. The assefs capitalised as contract
costs are hen included in tha carmying amount of the cash-generating unit o which they balong for tha
purpasa of evaluabing impainment of that cash-generating: unit.

The: recoverable amount of an asset of cash-generating un is the greater of s fair value kass costs of
disposal end value in use. The recoverable amount of a tangible and an infangible &sset is estimated
ndividualy, When-an asset does not generate cash flows largely independent of those from other
assats, tha recoverabln amaount is determined Tor the smalest group of asssls that generates cash
inflows independantly (.8, & cash-generating unit], In determining the value In wse, expected future
cash Bows generated by the assels are discountad to thelr present value using a pre-tat discount rate
that refects current market asssssments of lme value of monay and the risks spocilic 1o the assat for
which the estimates of future cash flows have nol been adjusted. The goodwill ansing from a business
combination, for the purposs of impalmmeant testing, is allccated 1o cash-genaraling unils that are
expeciad to benelit from the synengies of the combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Impairment of gocdwill and long-lived assets (continuad)

An impairment loss is recogrised if the camying amount of an asset or its cash-ganarating unit exceeds
i3 estimated recoverable amount. impairment o33 is recognised as an expense:in profit or foss,
Impalrment koss recogrised In respsct of cash-generating units |s alocated first fo reduce the carmying
amount of any goadwil allocated b the urels and Bhan o reduce ha camying amounts of ha olher assals
i thee unit fgroup of units) on a prorata basis,

The Group assesses af the end of each reporting period whether thers ks any indication that an impairment
Ioss recognisod for an assel In prior Years may nolongear exist. An impairment [ass is reversed if
thare has been a fevowrable change in the eslimates used to daterming the recoverable amount. &
subsequant increass in the recoverable amount of an assel, when the circumstances and events that
ledl o th wiila- down cease 1o st Bs recogrised as an incoma in profit or loss. The reversal is reduced
by the amount that woud have besn recognissd as depreciation and amortization had the write-down
not cocurred, An impairment loss in respect of goodwil 5 ol reversed, For the years prasanied, no
renvarsal of impainment loss was recognisad In profl of loss.

{il Interests in joint operations

A joint oparation |5 8 joint arangement whereby the partes that have joint control of the arangement
have the rights to the assels, and cbligation for the labdities, relaling fothe joint arangsmeant. Joint
contred is the confractually agresd sharing of contrel of an arrangarment. which axists only whan
dacisions about the relevant activities requirs Unarimous consent of the parties sharing controd,

Tha Group accounts Tor the assats, labiliies, revenues and expenses refating 1o 1s interest ina
joint oparation in accordance with FRSs applicable to the particutsr assels, abiities, revanues and
BUDENSEs,

When a group entity ransacts with a joint cperation in wiwch a group entity is a joind oparator (such as a
saie or contribution ot assels), the Group is considared o be conducting the transacton with the other
parties o the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting Fom the transactions are recognised n the
consolidated financial statemants only 1o ha axtent of cthar parties” nberests i the joint oparation.

When-a group entity transacks with a joint cperaticn in which a group entity ks a joint aperator (such as a

purchase of assats), e Group doas nol recogniss its share of the gains and kosses until It reseds those
agsals o third party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i} Inventories

Irmmantorias consist of materials and suppliies usad I manainng the eecommunicabions network and
goods for resae. Imventones ane valued at cost using the specific identification method or the weighted
average cost meshad, less a provision for obsolescance.

Impantorias are stated at the lower of cost and nel reaisabde value, Not realisable valus s the estimated
saling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cosis of compietion, the estimated
costs o make the sake and the related 1ax axpenses.

(k) Financial instruments

Financial assats and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party o lhe
confrachual provisions of the Instrument. All regulas-way purchases of sales of financial assais are
recognised and derecogrised on a frade date basis. Regular-way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assats thal requing delivery of assels within the fime frame establishad by reguiation or
eomantion in the market place,

Financial assats and financial liabdties ars inlialy massurad al lak valus except fof accounts recenabile
arising from confracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15,
Transaction costs that are directly attributable 1o the acquisition or issue of fnancls assats and financial
labillias fother than inancial assats or financial iabiliies af Tair valus through profit or loes (FYTPLT) are
addad to or deducted from tha teir value of the financial assets or financial isbilties, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs drectly attibutable to the acquisition of fnancial assats or financial
latdlites at FUTPL are recognised immadiataly in profit or loss.

The aifectve intarest method is:a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
firancial fability and of allocaling inferest incoms and interast axpanse over the relavant perod. The
aftective interest rate i3 the rate that exactly discounts estimated fulune cash receipls and payments
including all fees and points paid or recetved that foem an integral part of the elfectve interest rate,
ransaction costs and other pramiums or discounts) through the expactad e of the financal asset or
financial Eability, or, whene appropriate, a shorter perdod. to tha net camying amount on initial recognition,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k} Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

m Financlal assels measured subsequently at amortised cost
Financial assats that mest the fallowing conditions are subsesquently measured at amortised
oost

. tha financial asset s held within a business model whose objective ks 1o collact
confractual cash fiows; and

. the contractual lamms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are sclaly payrments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,

Interest income is recognised using the eflective interest method for fnancial assets measured
subsaquently al amortised cost. Inferest income is calculated by apphing the effectve intarest
rake to the gross carrying ameunt of a financlal asset, except for inanclal assels that have
subsequently becarms cradil-impained (see balow). For frioncial assels that have subsequantly
hacome cradil-impairad, interest incoma ks recognised by applying the alfactive interest rate
by the Brmortised costof the fnanclal assat from the next repoeting perlod. It the credit rgk on
the credit-impalred financial iInstrument improves: 50 that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest Income is recogrissd by apolying the effsctive interest rate fo the grass
camying amount of tha financial asset from the beginning of tha reporting panod folowing tha
detenmination that the assat is no longer credit-impained.

i Esguity instuments designated as at ki vaiue through olher comprahensie income CFYTOCET
Al initia recognition of & financial assat, the Group may revocably elect 1o present subsecuent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in ather comprahenshve income, and accumulate in
ofher raserves, il that aquity invastmant is neither heid for trading nor contingant consideration
recognised by an acquirer n & business combination to which IFRS 3. "Business Combdnations”
appies. Thass equity instruments are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulathe
gain of loss will not be reclassified to profl or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and wil
ba frarsterred to retained eamings,

Orddard from thesa Irmmeatmants in equity iInstruments are recognisad in profit o loss when the
Group's nightl 1o receive the dividends is esteblshed, unless the dnidends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment, Dividends are included in the Simestment income
and athers™ line [Bem in profil or kss,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

iy  Financie assets at FVTPL
Firancial assats that do nod meat the criterda for being measured at amortisad cost or FVTOC! or
dasignated as FYTOCH ane meazuned at FYTPL,

Financial assals at FVTPL are measured at far value at the end of each reparting period, with
any lair value gaing of losses recognised in proft or loss, The nat gan o [o8s recognised in
profit of loss includes any dhvidend or interest earmad on the financial assel and ks included in the
“irvastmant income and others” line item in profl or loss,

impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impalrment assessment under IFRS 8
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss ("ECLT model on financial assats
{inchuding accounts recatvable, financial assets included In prapayments and oliver curment assals, shorl-
term bank deposis and resticied cash, cash and cash equivalents) and other iem (contract assets)
which are subjact to impaiment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updaled al aach
separting date to raflect changes in cradit risk since initial recogrition,

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that wal result from-all possiblie delault svents over the expected He
of tha relevant irstrument. in contrast, 12-manth ECL (*12m ECL") reprasants the portion of fiketime
ECL that is expactod to nesiit rom datault events that are possibs within 12 manths after the reportng
date; Assessments are done based on the Group's histoncal credit loss experience, adusted for factors
that are specific 1o the deblors, gensral economic condlions and an assesament of both the currant
conditions at tha reporting date as well a5 the forecas! of libure condbions,

The Group aiways recogrises lifstime ECL for accounts receivable and confract assetsieciudng long-
term recavables: arsng from instalment sale). The ECL on these assels: ang assessed ndivicualy for
dabtors with significant balances or credit-impaired debtors, and collectivedy using a. provision mainix
with appropriate groupings: based on shared credit risk characteristios, including nature of sendces
prostched 85 wall as typo of cuslomens, such as recaivable kom telephana and Intamat subscriberns and
from enterprise customerns,

For afl other instruments, the Group maeasures the oss allowance equal 1o 12m ECL, untess wihan thare
has bean a significant increass in cred risk since inital recogniton, the Group recognises Betime ECL.
The asssssment of whether Hatime ECL should be recognised Is based on significant increasas in the
Ikalhood or risk of a defaull cocuring since initial recogrition,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under

IFRS 2 [continued)

m Sigrificant increasa in cradit risk
In assessing whedher the crodi sk has increased signifcanty since initial rmcogniton, the Group
compares the risk of a default occuming on the financial iInstrument as al the reporting dale with
the risk of a delault occuring on the financlal instrument as at the date of instlial recognition. In
miaking thes assessmaent, the Group considers both guantitative and quaitative Information that is
regsonabie and supportalie, including historical experience and fonward-looking information that
s avafiable withoaut undus cost or aliort,

In particular, the following information s taken into account when assessing wheiher credit risk
has increased significanthy:

* failura to make pavments of principal or iInferest on their contractually due dates:

. an actual of expected sigrificant deterioration in a financial inslrument's external or
Indermaal cradit rating (f avalabio):

s anactual or expectad sorificant datenicration i tha aperating resulls of tha debitar: and

. existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal emvironment
theat b a sigrificant adverse afiact on the dablor's ability to rmeat its abligation 1o the
Group.

At the balance shaet date, if tha Group considers that the financaal instruments has orly Iower
cradit risk, the Group will assumea that the cradit risk of the financia instruments has not
been significantly increased snce intig recognition. The credt risk on a financial instrument
s consderad kow if the financial instrument has a kaw risk of dafaul, the deblor has a sirong
capacity bo maal its contractual cash Sow obigations in the naar lamm: and adverss changes in
econamic and business conditicns I the longer term may, bl wil not necessanly, reduce the
abiity of the debior ta fulfil ks confractual cash fiow obiigations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under

IFRS 8 [continued)

m Dafinition of dalault
For internal credit rigk managemant, tha Group considers an ewant of dafaull ocours whan
information developed infernally or obiained from extermal sources indicates that the debilor Is
uniikely 10 pay Ite creditars, Including the Growp, in full fwithowt taking into account any collaterals
el By the Grodip),

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impared whan ona or more events: that have a deltimantal mpact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financia asset have occured. Evidence that a financial
assat s credit-impaired includes chsanvalds data about 1he ollowing events:

. sigrifcant financlal dificulty of the ssusr or the bomower;
. a braach of contract, such as a defaill or past dus evant;
. the benders) of the bomower, for economic or contraciusl reasons relating to the

Barrower's financial dificully, hawving graniad lo the boarowear a concessionds) that tha
lervdint(s) walld nat athorwiss consdar:

. it is becoming probable that the barrawer will anter bankruptey or othar linancial
reorganisation; or

. the disappsarance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficuitios.

v Wirite-of policy
The Group writes off a financial assat when thera is mlormation indicating that the counterparty
I3 In severs financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counferparty has been placed undar Bquidation or has enfered inte banknupicy procsedings,
Financlal assels wiitten off may still be subject to enforcemant aclivities under the Group's
recoveny procedunas, laking Into account legal advice whens appropriate. A write-off constiutes
a darscognition evant. Any sulbsaquent recovaries ara recogrised in profit or loss,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k} Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under

IFRS 2 [continued)

W Measurament and recognition of ECL
Tha measursmant of ECL is a function of the probabiily of dafad, loss given detadlt §.e. the
miagnitude of the loss If there is a default) and the exposure al default, The assessment of the
probabilty of default and loss given default is based on the hestorical data and forward-locking
infermation. The Group uses & practcal axpedient in estimating ECL on accounts receivakie using
2 provision malrix taking Info consideration hisiorical credit loss expenence, adiusted for fooward-
keoking indormation that is availabls without undus cost ar sfiorl.

Gensraly, the ECL is the difference belwsen all contractual cash flows that are dus to the
Group in accordance with the cantract and all the cash flows that the Group expects o receive,
ciscounted at tha allective interast rate determinad at initial recogriticn,

Lifatima ECL for accounts recenabla and conltract assels are considered on a collective basis
taking imo consideration past dus inlormation and relsvant cradit information such as forward-
Iaoking macroaconomic informaticn,

Far collective assassment, the Group takes into consideration the lollowing characteristics whean
fermulating the groupng:

. Past-dus status;
. Mature, stpaand industry of deblors; and
* External credi ratings whine avaiatia,

The growping is regularty reviewead by management to ensure the constituents of sach group
contirie 1o shars similar credil risk charactansbics.

The Group recognises an impasrment gain or koss in profit of koss for all financial Instruments
measured at amortised cost by adjusting thair canmying amaount, with the exceplion of accounts
recenvable and olhel receivabies wharg The comesponding adiustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Financial instruments {(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Deracognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a fnanclal assat only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset: expire. o whan it transiers the Snancial asse! and substantialy all the risks and rewards of
ownersiip of tha assat to anathaer enlity.

On derecognilion of a financlal asset measured at amortised cost, the differance betwean the asset's
camying amount and the sum of the consideration received and recelvabis is recognised in proft or koss,

D derecogrnition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has slected on inifial recognition
to maasune al FVTOC!, the cumulative gain or Joss previously accumulaled in other resarves is not
reclassified to proft or ioss, but ks transferrad o relained eamings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Dbt and equity instruments are classified a5 either financial Eabilitles or as squity in accordance with
Ihe substance of the contraciiial arangements and the definilions of a financial iablity and an equity
inatrument,

Exuity instrumonts
An aquity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the gsasts of &n entity after
daducting all of ita abdities. Equity instrumenis iesued by the Company are recognised at the procesds
recaived, natof dinect issue costs:

Financial liabilities
Al financial Eabilities are subsequently measurad at amortised cost using the effective intarast mathod,

Financial kabdities including shori-term - and fong-term debis. accounts pavable and financial latiities
Inciuded in accrusd expensas and ofher payables are subssquentty measured al amortisad cost, using
the affectve interast mathod,

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financis assat and a financial kabily are offset and the nel amount presamed in the consoicated
Hatemant of financial position whan, and only when, the Group cumently nas a legaly enforceabia right
to sat off the recognised amounts; and infands either 1o settie on a nel basis, or 1o reakse the assat and

ettt the iabiity simidtaneausly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Iy Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compriss cash: at bank and in hand and timea depasits with anginal matunties
of thres months or kess when purchased. Cash equivalents ame siated at cosl, which appromales tar
valus,

{m) Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenus when (or as) a parfommance cbligation s satished. L. when “contral” af
tha goods or $enices undarying the particular performance obligation s ranstemed 1o the customer,

A parformanca chiligation reprasants a good or senvca (or a bundla of goods or ssnices) that s dstinet
or A safles of distingt gﬂﬂd&ﬂ' sanAcas Mat arg mmﬂ'&m.

Contral ks transferrad ower fime and revenue is recognised over time by reference o the prograss
towards complade satisfaction of the relevant performance obigation I one of the lollowing criteria is
mat:

. the custormear simultansously receives and consumes the banafls providad by 1he Group's
pericemance 83 the Greap performs;

. tha Group's parformance creates or enhances an assal that the customes eontrols as the
Groups perfomsa: of

L e Group's perlormance doas nol craats an assal with an altemative use 1o e Group and the
Group has an enforceabls right 1o Dayrent for DerMommsance comphoied o date.

As such, revenues from contracts with cusiomars of telecommunicalions senices are genarally
recognised over tima during which the senvices ane provided 1o Cusiomars,

Oihenstsa, revenue & recognissd at a pont 0 time when he customer oblains control of the distinet
pood or senvice. As such, revenues from sales of equipment are recognised at a point in time when the
equpmant i deliverad o the customers and when the conirgl over the equipment have been fransfamed
fo the customers,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m} Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Whiara the contract contains a significant financing componaent, the Group recognisas the ransachion
price 8t an-amouni that reflects the prce that a customer would have pesd kor the promised goods of
sanices i the customer had pekd cash lor those goods or senvices wiven (or as) they transder (o the
customer. The difference batwesn the: amount of promisad considaration and the cash salling ice s
amceiised using an effectivi intanast mathod ovar the contract temm,

A confract assat represents the Group's right 1o consideration in axchange for goDds or senices that
the Growp nas transfered o a customer But tha right is condtionad on the Group's fulure perfomance,
A contract assed is ranaferred 1o accounts receivable when tha right becomas unconditional, A contract
assel Is assessad for impalrment in accordance with IFRS 9, In contras!, a recaivable reprasanis the
Group's uncondiional right. o consideration, |.e. only the passage of time is required balore payment of
treat consideration is dus.

A contract llability represents the Group's obligation to ransier goods of services o a cusiomar for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration s dua) from the customer.
When tha Group recaives an advance payment balore the performancs obligation Is satished, this will
ghva riss to & contract ability, LNt the opacating ravenuss recogrised on the reisvant conlract axcesd
the amount of he advance payment.

The Group pravidas subscriber paints reward program, which rawards customears Based on Beir
consumption amaunts and lovalty. Under the reward program, the Group allocates parl of 1he
transaction price to subscriber polnts according fo-the stand-alone selling prices of subscriber points
and relavant goods or senvices. The slandalona salling price of each point in the customer paint rewards
& based onits-fair valoe, Tha afocated podtion of fransaction price for the subscriber points reward is
recorded as contract kabiity when the rewards are granted and recognised a5 revenus when the goods
or senices of points redempiion are delivenad or 1ha points are xpiad,

A confrect asset and & contract kabdity relating to the same confract are accounted for and prasented
on a nat basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m}) Revenue from contract with customers (continued])

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For confracts that contain more than one peslormance obligation, e Group alocates: the transaction
price lo each parformance atiligation on a redative stand-alene selling price basis,

The siand-akone sdlling price of the distine? good or sandce undertying each performance cbiigation is
catermined at confract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promisad good
of sarvice separately 10-a customer, If 8 stand-along seling price is nol directhy ohservakie, 1he Group
sstimates W using sppropriate technigues such that the fransaction price uiimately allocated to any
performance cbiigation reflects the amouni of considesation to which the Group expacts to be entitled in

axchangs lor ranshermng (he promised goods or saricas to tha cusiomer.

Over time revenue racognition: measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress fowards complate satislaction of a performance cbligation is generally measured based
on outpul method, which Is 1o récognisa revenue on the basis of direst measurements of the valus of
the goods of sandtas ranstered 1o the customer 16 date relative to tha remaining goods o savices
promised under the contract.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods of services 108 cusiomer, the Group delenmenes
whather e natura of its promese is a performance obligation to prosvide the specified goods or sendoes
itsadl (.. tha Group is a principal) or to arange for those goods of sandces 1o be proviced by the olhar
party (La. tha Groun s an agent).

The Group is a principal If it controis the specifisd good or sanvice before that good or service is
transtared 1o & customer.

The Group 15 an agent if its perfomanca cbligation s o arangs for the provision of the spacified good
or-sanice by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the speciad good o senice
provided by another party before that good o senvce is transfered o the customer. When the Group
acts as an agent, It recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission fo which It expects o
e antitiad in exchangs lor arranging for the specified gocds or sanvices to be provided by the ofher
party,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m} Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Consideration payable to a customer

Consideration pavable 10 8 customer - Includes cash amounis that the Group pavs, o expects to pay,
to the customer, and akso Includes credit or other itlems that can be appled against amounts owed to
the Group. The Group accounted for such consideration payable 10 a customer as a reduction of the
ransaction price and, therelors, of revenus uniess the payment (o the customer is In axchange: for a
distinct good or senvice that the customen fransiers to the Group and the fair valus of the good or sendce
received from the customer can be reasonably estimated. Accordingly, il consideraion payable 1o a
customaer B accountsd ko as a reduction of the transaction price, tha. Group recognises the reduction of
revenua when (or as) the later of aither of the Tollowing events ooowrs: () the Groug recognises revenue
for the transier of the refated goods o services o the cuslomer; and i} the Group pays o promisas to
pay tha considaration (even If the payment is conditicnal on a lubure event).

Certain subsicles payable to third parly agent incurred by the Group in respect of cusiomer confracts,
wiich wil b ullimataly enjoyed by end customerns, and other subsidies incurred by the Group drectly
payatee to ils customers, are quaiBed as consideration payable to a customer and accounied for as a
reducian of oparating revenues.,

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obisning a contract arg thosse costs that the Group incurs to oblain a contract with
A customear that it would nat have incurred (f the confract had nol been obiainad,

Certain commissions incurred by the Group paid o payeble 1o third party agents, whose selling activiies
resulbed in cusiomans antenng into elecommunicalions sanvice agreaments with the Groug. are quakhsed
as incremental costs. The Group recognises such ©oste as an asset, included Inofher assats, if it
expecta to recovar thesa costs: The asset 50 recognised is subsequenty amartised 1o profil or loss. on
a systemalic basis that ks consistent with the ransfer 1o the customer of the goods or sanices 1o which
the assats retate. The assel is sublect (o mpamment e,

The Group applies the practical expadient of axpensing all incremental costs to oblain a contract if these
costs would olharwise have been fully amortised 1o prafit o loss within one year,
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m}) Revenue from contract with customers (continued])

Costs to fulfil a contract

When the Group incurs costs to Tl a contract, it first 85565585 whether these costs guality for
recognition as an asset In terms of other relevant standards, falling which it recognises an assat for
thesa costs oy if thay meat all of the Tollowing critera;

. the costs relale directly fo @ confract or to.an anbcipated contract that the Group can specifically
identity;

. the costs generale or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satistying for In
continuing o satishy) performance coilgations in the fulune; and

- the costs are expected to be recovered,

Tha assel s0 recognised s subsequently amoriised fo profl or loss on a systemalic basis (hat is
consistent with the transter 1o the customer of ihe goods or senvicas fo which the assets relate. Tha asset
i= sulbject o impairment review.

{n) Leases

Definition of a lease
A contract [s, of eontains, a lease i tha contract comeys the right to condrol the use of anidentified asset
tor-a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whathera contract is of conains a kease based on the deliniton under IFRS 16 at
Incepton or modication date. Such contract will not ba reassessed uniess the terms &nd conditions of
the conlract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

As a practical expedient, leasas with similar characieristics ame accounted on a portlolio basls whan
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consclicdated financial statements would not diifer
matesially from individual leases within the portioo.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For & contract that conlains & lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract 1o each lease component on the
basis of the retathve stand-alons price of the lisass component and the aggregate stand-alons price of
the non-leass components.
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n} Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recogrition exempaion {o leases that have a Base term of 12
manths or less from the commencament date and do not conlain a purchase oplion. It also applias the
necogniticn axernpbicn for kmase of lw-value assels, Lease payments on short-temn leases and easas of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses on a straight-ing basls over the lease farm,

Right-of-use assets
Tha cost of right-of-use asset Includes:

. the amaount of the inftial measurement of the leasa iability;

. any lpase payments made al or belore the commencament dats, less any leass incentivas
recahvead;

. any initial direct costs incurrad by the lesses; and

. an astimate of costs 1o ba Incurred by the lesses in dismanting &nd remaving tha underying
assats, restonng the site on which [} Is located or regtonng the undertying assat to the conditicn
racuirad by the terms and conditians of tha lsase,

Right-of-use assets are maasured at cost, less eny accumulated depreciation and impaiment koeses,
and adjusted for any remeasuramant of lease Eabiities ofher than adustments o lease abites resuting
from Condd-18-related rant concessions in which e Group appied the practical axpadient.

Right-of-use asssts in which the Group is reasonaibly cartain to obtain ownership of the undarlying
eased assels at the end of tha lsase term is deprecialed from commencement dake o the end of the
usehd e, Otherwise, nght-ol-use assets are deprecialed on a sireght-ine basis over the shorter of is
estimated usahu lile and the laass term.

The Group presents rght-of-use assats as a separate ine Hem In the consolidated statement of finencial
position,
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

Al the commencement date of a leasa, the Growp recognises and measwres ihe leass kablity at the
prasent value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the presant valus of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremantal borrowing rate at the lease commancamant date |f the
interest rate implicit in the lease ls not readily determinable,

The lease payments inchuda:

. fixed payments (inciuding in-substance fied payments) kess any leasa incanthes receivabie;
. varizble lease paymenis that depend on an index or a rate;

. the exercize price of a purchase oplion reascnably cartan to be exercised by the Group; and

- payments af penalties for larminating a lsase, If the lease term reflacts the Group exercising an
aphion bo larminate ths laase.

Variabis laase payments that depend on an index or & rate are initially maasured using the index of rate as
at the commancameant dats. Varabias lsaze paymants thal do nat depend an an indax or a rale ang not
inciuded in the measurement of lease liabilties and nght-oi-use assets. and Bre recogrised &5 SNpEnse
in the period on which tha event.or condition that triggers the payment coours,

Aftar tha commencement cate, lMase Babiliies ane adjusied Dy INMNGST ACCHABoN and Bass Dayments.

The Group remeasuras lease liabiftes (and makes a comesponding adiustment o the reialed rght-of-
use assals) whenaver:

- tha leass tarm has changed or there &5 a changs in the assessment of exercise of a purchass
option, N which: casa the relaled loase bty is remeasured by discounting tha revisad laase
payments Lsng & revised discount rate at the date of assessmant,

. the lease paymants changs due to changes in market rental rales folowing a markal rent review,

inwhich cases the related leass kabdity is remeasuned by discounting the revised lease payments
using tha initial discount rate,
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2082

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n}) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-18-relaled rent concessions In which the Group appled the practical expedent, the
Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate leass i:

* the modification Increases the scope of the lease by adding tha right to Use one or more
underhing assels; and

L the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone

prica for the increasa in scopa and any appropriata adjustments to that stand-alone prica to
raflect the cicumstances of the particular comtract.

For a lease modiication that ks not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasires the lease
lability basad on the leasa term of the modified lase by discounting 1ha revised lease payments using a
revisad decount rate at the efiective dale of the modilication,

The Group accourits for the rameasurement of leass liabifties by making corresponding adiusimants
by thia redeniant Bight-ol-use asset, When the modibsd conbract containg & lease component and one of
mare addiional leass of non-lease components, the Group alibcales the considaration in the miodified
confract ko each laasa component on the basis of e relative stand-alona price of the lsass componant
and the Bggregats stand-aione price of tha non-lsass componants.

Condd-19-related rent concassions

Since 2020, in relation 1o renl concassions that occured as a direct consaguence of tha Covid-19
pandemic. the Group had elected 1o early appéy the practical expedsent not fo assess whather the
changea is a kase modification if ad of the foliowing conditions are mal:

* the change In lsass payments resulls in revised consideration for the lease that is substantialy
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the leass immediataly preceding the change;

* any reduction in lease peyments aflects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
and

. thara is na substaniive change 1o other teems and conditions of the lease.
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
n) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease medifications (continued)

Covid-18-related rent concessions (continued)

As.a result of applying the practical expadient, the Group accounts for changes in lease payments
resulling from rent concessions tha same way it would account for the changes appiying IFRS 16 if
the changes were not a base modification, Forgheness or waiver of lease paymenis are accounted for
as varlable lease payments, The related lease lablities are adjusted lo refiect the amaounts forgiven or
wisheed with & comesponding adiustment recognised in the proft or loss in the period i which the avant
COCUTE.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leasas for which the Group is a lessor are classified as financa or opérating leases. Whenever the tarms
of ihe laase transter substantially all the risks and rewards incidental o ownership of an underhying asset
io the lessee, the coniract ks classified as a finance lease, Al other leases are classlied as operaling
leasas,

Amounts due from kessees undes finance lsases are recognisad as recelvables at commencement
dats at amounts equal to net immstmants in the leasses, measred using the interest rate mplicit in the
reepective leasss, Inifial dirsct costs (other than thoss incurmad By marufachuner or dealer lassors] ans
inciuded in the ntisl measurement of the net investments in the lsases. interest ncoma s allocated 1o
accounting perods 5o as to refiect a constant periodic rate of refurn on the Group's nat investmant
cutstanding in respect of tha lsaseas.

Renial incoms from-operaling lsases is recognised in prolit or loss on a straight-ine basis over the term
of 1he relevant lease. Initial direct costs ncured in negotiating and aranging an operating lease ane
addad o the carmyng amount of the kased assat, and: such ©0s1s & recognised-as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term., Vanabie lease payments for opedating leasss that depend on.an
indax o a rate are estimatad and included in the talal lsase payments to ba recognised on a straight-
lire bsis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate ae
recognized as ncome when they arise.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a confract includes bolh lease and non-lease componants, the Group appies IFRS 16 1o allocate
consideration in a confract o lease and non-leass companants. Mon-lease componands ame separaled
from laase componsnt on the basis of ther relalive stand-alons seling prices,
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2082

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n} Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Retundabde rental deposits recetved are accounted under [FRS 2 and Initially measured at fair value.
Adjusiments to lais valus al initial recogrition are considered as additional lease paymeants om lessees,

Sublease

When the Group s an Intermedale lessor, [t accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two
saparale confracts. The sublease ks classifed as a finance or operating lease by nederence 1o the fght-
of-use assat arsing from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset,

Lease modifications

Changes In considerations of lease confracts that were not part of the original terms and conditions
& accounted for as lease modifications, Including lease incentives provided theolgh lorgiveness or
rerciLis tion of rentals,

The Growup accounts for a modification o an operating lease as a new leasea from the affective dale of
tha modification, considaning any prapaid or accroed leass payments refating o the original lsasa as
part of the lesse payrnents for the mew lease,

(o) Netfinance costs

het finance costs comprise interest income. on bank depasils, interest costs on borrowings, interest
expenss on lass Rabiiies and foreign exchange gains and losses. Interest income fram bank deposits 5
recogrisad a5 it sccrues Using the affective inlenast mathod,

interest cosls incured in connechion with borrowings ane calculated using the affeciive interest method
and are expensed a3 incumed. exceot 1o the axtent: that they are capitalised as being drectly attributable
to the construction of an asset wisch necassanty takes a substantial pencd of me to get ready for is
Irlendsd usa.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{p) Research and development expense

Fesearch and development expenditure is expansed as incurnad if the oriteria of recognition as intangibles
assets were not mat. For the year ended 31 December 2022, research and development expenss,
other than those refated persannsl expenses and depraciation was RMB. 198 million (2021: RME3.379
rmillian), Fesearch and developmeant reiated parsonnal axpensas and depreciation for the year andad 31
Decembar 2022 amounted to AMBE 237 milion (2021 AMBS, 432 milion) and AMB124 million (2021,
RMB 122 million), nespeciively.

{q) Employee benefits
The Group's confributions o dafined contribution retirament pians administarad by the PRC governmentd
and defined contribution retiremant plans administerad by indepandent exdermal parties are recogrisad
in profit or koas as Incunred, Further informaton is set out in Nobe 45.
Campansation axpense In respect af fhe share apprecialion fights granted s acored as a charge lo
the profit or loss over the applicable vesting period based on the lalr vaue of the share appreciation
righis, Tha Eabdlity of the accrued compansation axpenss is re-measured 1o tar valus at the end of sach
raparting padod with the afiect of changes in the falr valus of the fabiity charged or credited 1o profit or
kyes. Further detels of the Group's share appreciation rights scheme are sel out In Mot 46,

(} Government grants
Government grants shall enly be recognised unil there is reasonabila aseurance that:
. th Group will comply with all the condtions attaching to them; and

- the granmis will b received.

Gowernment grants that compensate expenses ncuimed ane recogrnised in the consolidated statement of
compretensive incoms in the same panods in which tha axpanses are incumed.

Gowernment grants redating to assets are recognised In accnued expenses and other payables and other

non-current Eabilities and are credifed to the conscliidated statement of comprahensive income on a
Slraighl-ing basis over the axpeciod ives of tho related assels.
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 20022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision s recogrisad in the consoidated staternant of fnancial position when the Group has a legal
of construciive present obligation &s a resull of a past event, i is probable that an outfiow of economic
banafits. wil be requred fo settie the obligation and a rellable estimate can be made of the amount of
tha obligation, The amount recognesad as a provision is the bast astimale of the consderation requaned
ter Sette the prasent cbligation &t the end of the reponing perod. Whene the. bme vales of money is
meatarial, provisions are stated at the prasent value of the expendiure expeciad to settle the obligation,

Whera It s nat probeble that an outhiow of economic benafits wil De reguined, of The amount cannat Do
estimaled relisbly, the obligation |s disclosed a3 a contingent lisbikly, unless the probabity of outfiow
of economic benelils 15 ramote, Possible obligalions, whose existance will only be confirmad by the
oooumenca of non-ocourrance of one or mane futune events, are also disclosed as contingant Eabilities
urisss the probabdity of cutfiow of sconomic benelits |5 remate.

) Value-added tax (“VAT")

Outpul VAT rale for basic lelecommunications services (including voice communication, lsass or
sala of petwork rasourcas) Is 9% since 1 April 2019, whils 1he outpul VAT rale for value-addad
telecommunications sendees (including Internet access sarvices, sharl and multimedia messaging
-gandcaes, transmission and application service of elsctronic data and infemation) i3 6%, and the output
VAT tor sales of islecommunications tenminals and equipment is 13% since 1 Apl 2019, Inpot VAT rats
dapands on e typae of sendcss recensd and s assats purchased as well s tha VAT rabe applicable
ter & specific industry; and ranges from 3% 1o 13% since 1 Apdl 2010,

Cutput VAT is exciuded rom operating reversses whils input VAT ks exciuded Fom operaling Gxpensas
or tha onginal cost of aquipment purchased and can be natied against the outpul VAT, armiving at
e net amount of VAT recoverable or pawable. As the VAT obligations are borme by branches and
subsicianes of the Company, input and cutput VAT ame set off al branches and subssdianes levels which
ae nat offset al the consoidation level. Such net amount of VAT recoverable or payable i3 recorded in
the financial statement lina items of prepayments and other currant assats and accrued expenses and
other payables, respectivaly, in The consolidated statament af financial positicn,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
{u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current 1ax and movemant in deferrad tax assels and liabiities.
Incoma tex is recognised in profit or kiss except to the exdent thal it relates to ilems recognised in otrer
compeehensive Income, of drecily in equity, in which case the rslevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprahensive ncome or directly in equty respectively, Cumant t is the expectad ta payatis
on i taxanle incoms for the year. using lax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reparting perkod, and any adustiment o lax payable in respect of previous years, Delemed tax
s provided using the balarce sheet liability method, providing for all tamparary differences batween
the carmying amounts of assets and labitles for francial reporting purpeses and their tax Dases. The
amount of delerred tax ks calouiated on the basls of the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that
ara especiad o apply in the period when the assat |s realised or the liabifity Is sattled, The aflsct on
defemed tad of any changes In tax rates is charged or cradited to profit or less, excapt for the eflect ol
a changs In 12 rate on the camyéng amount of defemed tax assets and labdities which were presioushy
recognized in other comprehensive ncame, in such case the effect of a changé In tax rale is also
recognised in othar comprehensive ncoma,

A deferred tax assel is recognisad only 1o the extent that it is probable that fulure taxabls income wil ba
available acanat witch the assst can be uliksad. Daterred 1ax assets ans raduced to the extent that it is
o bonger probabie that the retated o benafil will be realized.

Daferad tax liabdiies are ganaraly recogrisad for all taxable tamporary dilfarances. Detared tax
lizbiitios are rocogrised for taxable lempesary differences associabed with investmonts in subsidianes,

associates and joint ventres, expepd wherg the Group i ablis 1o control the reversal of the temporary
diffarance and it is probabde that the temporany differance will not resverse in the foresaeabls future,

The Group considers that assats-and kabilies relating 10 kasing arse from a single ransacton, The
Group applies IAS 12, Sincome Taxes” requirements 1o the leasing transaction as a whoks, Temporary
differences reiating (o right-ol-use assats and kease iabities are assessed on a nel basis,

{v}] Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a Sabilty In the pericd in which thay are declared,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Related parties
@} A person, of a close maemiber of that person's tamily, i related to the Group if that person:
® has control of feint control over the Group:
1] has sigrificant influence cver the Group; or
i} isamamber of the key management personnal of the Growp or the Groun's parand,
£ Anentily s related o the Sroup if any of the following conditions appliss;

] The entity. and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
parant, subsidiany and Tellow subsidiary 15 related to the othersk

[ The entity ks-2n assoclate or joint venture of the Group (or an asscciabe of int veniure
of a member of a group of which the Group is a membsr); of the Group is an asscciate
or point ventune of fhe entity [or an associale or jednt venture of a member of a group of
wiich the entity is a mamber);

i}  The entity and the Grown are joint ventures of the same third party;

) The-entify i3 a joint vanture of a third entity and the Group s &n assocsate of the thrd
antity; or the Group ks a joint venlure of a third entity and the entity is an assoclate of the
third antity:

v Thee enlity is contralied o jointly controliad by & person idantifisd in (a);

A peeson identified in (aj) has sgriticant influence over the enlity or is a member of tha
key management perscnngl of the entity (or of a parent of the enity),

Clesa mambars of tha family of & parson ans thoss family rmembers wha may e expscied 1o influsnsg,
or e Influenced by, that person in thelr dealings with the antity.

() Segment reporting

An operating sagment is a componant of an anlity that engages in business adtivities from which
revenues are eamed and expensas are Incurred, and s idenliied on the basis of the inlernal finarctal
reports that are reguiarty reviewad by the chisf operating decision maker in-order 1o allocate rescurces
and sssess perlormances of the segment, For the years presented, management has datermined that the
Group has ona operating segment as the Group is only engaged in the integrated telacommunications
business. The Group's assets located cutside mairiand Crena and operating reévenues detived from
activities outside mainland China are less than 10% of the Group's assats and opsrating revenues;
resspectivaly. No gecgraphical area information has been preseniad as such amount is Immaterial. No
Snghe external cusiomer Bccounts for 0% or mone of the Group's Operating revenues,
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Communications. Furmstars, fixturs,
Buildings and network plant  motor vehicles and

improvements and equipment  other equipment Total
RME miion FIME milion AME millon AME million
Coailsemed cost
Babirce s o 1 by 2001 T B 3 1,068,467
dadins 2 1T b Tod
Trarehumedirom corstruclion in progress 45 220 1825 16,351
Filrernent aned digposl {1,048 453 295) 7838
Balaoe a5 ot 31 [ecember 201 107,158 B3N 015 1,061 664
dddbons 1054 5H 5 1847
Traeferred from coretmuction i peogrees 208 AN 150 e
Pstramet s dgpeead {1,541} 55 1] 0073
Balance as at 31 December 2122 W0t g1 aT B3 1,000,565
derummibted depreciafion and imgament:
Bairce a5 2 1 ey 2000 BB T4 R )
Depreciation chiar e forthe year £ 65,13 2305 1508
Provson for impaiment koss - i3 brij {821
Wit biack or ediement and dsposal 1022 WIE 240 0508
Batince as at 31 Dacarmber 2021 T B52T) A (5EaY
Deprociston cheri o i your 31T (64,975 1478 a7
Frovision for paiment fnss # L) ] ™
Wit bach or redormient and dspossl 15 e 253 1,581
Balinca 25 at 31 December 2022 {70009 1432} [z2am) 606,302
et ook valun a5 it 31 Dacember X 05 367510 448 413,963

Bk bock s 22 81 31 Descarrber ML BAM T T30 415,581
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decemibear 2022

5. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

RME million
Balance as at 1 Janary 2021 48,425
Addtions 85,583
Transtermed to propecty, plant and aouipment {78,351)
Translarrad to intangibie assets [, 200}
Balance as at 31 December 2021 (restatad) 51,457
Additions 89,736
Transfemed b0 DIoparty, pant and equipment (77,029
Transfarred b intangibls assels i5,721)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 58,443
6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Gomrricions
Leasehold towers and
bnd  Buldings relacdassets Equipment Ofhers Tetal

AMEmilion AMEmiice AMBmiion FAMEmilion AMEmlion  AMEmilion

As ot 31 Docember 2022

Ciamying amound 240 15205 Ao 9,302 e Lf]
As b 31 December 2021

Canying amount inselated) 0 16578 13,04 10527 B 61187
For the year ended 31 Dacembar 2122

Diepricisin chirge e} {5308 8,237 feAm) g 17313
For the pear ended 31 December 2021

Depreciation creege festaiad e 55 BOTR 51y 9 {15,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group keases communications owens and related assets, iand and buldngs, equipment and olher assets
for its aparafions. Leasa terms are negotiated on an indiidual basis and contain a wids range of ditfrent tarms
and conditions. In datermining the lease term and assessing tha langth of the non-cancellable pardad, tha Group
appiies the defimtion of a contract and daetermines tha penod for which the confract is enforceable.

The addiions of right-of-use assats. this year include the increases In right-of-use. assels ansing from the
Company’s entering inte Commorcial Pricing Agreement and Senice Agreamaent with China Townr this year,
which was accounted for as lease medification, further information s sat ot in Note 4300},

The Grous reguiarly entared into shor-termm beases for buldings and othir assals, Asat 31 December 2022 and
2021, the porifolic of shovt-term leases (s similar lo the porttolio of short-term leases o which the short-term
lease aupensas disclosad in this note,

For the year ended 31 December 2022, expanses relaling to shori-term leases amounting 1o RMBEE3 milion
{2021: AMB1.006 millon), expenses relating 1o leases of low value ssssts (sxcluding short-term lsases of low
vallpe assals) amounting to AMB1 12 millon (2021: RMB34 milion) and variable lease payments not includad In
1he maasurement of leass ebslites amounting o AMBA,950 milion (2021; FMBS, 151 milion), ane recognised in
profit or logs,

For the year ended 31 December 2022, tolal cash cutflow for laases was AMB24 748 millbon {2021:
RAMB2 1,052 milion), and addificns to right-of-use assels ware FMBAT, 154 miliom (2021: FMB 18,083 milion).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2082

7. GOODWILL

31 Decomber
2022 2021
RAME million AME million
Cost:
Goodwil arising from scquisiion of mobile communicalions business 29,922 29,919

On 1 Cretober 2008, e Group acquired the mobils communicalions business and rstated 3ssets and Eabdites
[cofiectvely "mobile communications busimess™), which aiso included the entire equity interests. of China Lnicom
(Macau) Company Limited fourently known as China Telecom (Macau) Company Limited) and 99.5% squity
interests of Uricom Huasheng Telecommunications Technology Company Limited (curmantly known as Tiarmyi
Telacom Terminals Company Limited) from Ching Unicom: Limited and China Unicom Corporation Limited
[collectrvety “Uinicom Groun’), The purchase price of the business combnation was RMB43,800 millon, which
was fully sattled as-at 31 Decamber 2010, In addition, pursuant to tha acqussition agreament, the Group
acquired the customar-redaled assels and assumad tha customer-rekaied kabdbies of mobil communicalions
business for a net settlement amount of RMB2.471 milllen due from Unicom Grotg, This amount was
subsequently sedlled by Unicom Group in 2008, The business combination was accouniad for using the
perchase method,

Tha goodwil recognisad in the business combination is attributatla tey the sklls and techrical talent of the
acquired business’s workforos, and the synanges expected to be achisved from intagrating and combining the
miobile commisnications business Into the Group'’s tslecommanications business,

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of mobile
communications busingss was allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit of the Group, which s
tha Group's inlegrated lslecommurnications busingss. The recoveratle amouni of the Group's integrated
talecommunicalions basiness is estimated basad on the valus in use modal, which conzlders the Group's
fircancial Budgets covering a fve-year pericd, revenue growth rate betwesn 3.6% to 4.5% [2001: 3.7% 1o 4.6%)
and a pre-tax discount rafe of 9.8% (2021: 0.8%). Cash fliows bayond the five-year pericd are ecdrapolated
Lsing A steady 1.5% growth rate (2021: 1.6%). The Groug performisd impairmant tests for tha goodwill at the
and of 1 roporting pedod snd detemined that gocawil was not impared. Tho Group beleves ary reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the: recoverable amount is based would not cause its
recoverabie amount 10 be less than carmying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decembar 2022

8. INTANGIELE ASSETS

Software
RMEB million
Cost:
Bafance as at 1 Januany 2021 50854
Additions 2038
Transtermad from consiruchon in progress 6,200
Retirament and dsposal (3.352)
Balanca a3 at 31 December 2021 E5.740
Adtong 2,462
Transterrad from constriction in progress 57
Retirement and disposal (3,144)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 60,779
Accumilated amortisation and impairment:
Bslance as at 1 January 2021 {32,348)
Amortisation charge for the year (6,363
Written back on ratinernant and disposal 2720
Balance as al 31 Decamber 2021 (35,887)
Amertisaiion charge for the year (6,689
Writhen back on retirement snd disposal 2,877
Balance as at 31 December 2022 [39,999)
Net book value as at 31 December 2022 20,780

ot book: vaiue as-al 31 December 2021 19,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Dataits of the Company’s subsidianes which principally affected the operating resulls, agsets and Rabiliies of
tha Group as at 31 Decamber 2022 are as follows:

Fagstered/msued
Piaca of capdal fin RNE
Trpe ol Dubof incorporation and milfon unless
Kame of company Jesgal endily incorporion cpeation olherwsestaled]  Principal ativiy
Chine Tedscom Dighal hieligence. Liviled Compeey. 13 Seplonber 2001 PRC 3000 Proviion of syetem
Tischnciogy Co.. Lid. dormety Inbegpaficn and consuling
o 2 "o Telecom e
Systam inleaion G, L)
Ctina Telecom GickelUimifed. Umiled Company. 25Fabnay 2000 Hong long Speckd HSESmil  Proviam o
Aririttratie Pagon Escmmuricling
of i PRC S
(China Tebacom B Tore Uil Corrpary. 13 A 20017 PR 360 Provison of Bl Tone
Ifermaion Senkcn . inlrraion seriices
Limkad
Torul Tokpcer Termirsh Ueted Compamy. 1.0y 20065 oo B0 S of ekormmurairs
Cempany Liéad i
MUSC Cuuro B Tochoology. il Compary. 9w 2013 FRG 501 Pronkion of mugic procucion
o, Ld - el reiberd ndoomrn
sanies
Tl CapitaHokdng Coc b, Umited Company. 30 Bowermber 3017 PR 5000 Capldimestment and
prossion of coneadig
s
Ot Teecom GropFrence. Uniled Compiry. /8 sy 2010 PRC S000 Prodson o caplad and
Gl il mesagemient
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Fegiteredfssad
Placs of capial [in RMB
Typeol Date ol incorporation aad milion eriess
e of company legal entity incorporallon operation cthorwise staled)  Principal activty
China Tabicom Cud Ui Comparny. 1 iy 2001 e 45M  Provision of choud prodiets
Technobogy Ca, Lid ard sercas
E-surfing Dighaf Ly Technckoqy  Umied Compary. 600 24021 PRC W0 Feonsion of comgratensi:
Ca L schiors et 4o e
dighal e
Lnigang Stoni Shénghil Undsd Compery 204 201 PR 00 Peovision of computing
Tucnaiogy Co. Lid e s
Serghi koo hdly  UmbsdCompay  WDeomber 190 PRC 7 Provision of commiricaion
fartuph Ca, Lid angrverig desig)
and gysherm féeminal
decopment sarices
Ty WTTachroioy Co, L Uit Gonpary. 2Rl 2019 PRO 1000 Prowison of T sanices
China Tedocem inligent UnisdCorpany M dnay 22 PRC 000 Prowisin of cpseation and
Metwork Technology o, Lid spport chrical senioes
Taaryi Sty Techmisioy Unisd Copeny  GSsplember 001 PRC 500 Proveion of natwerk
. Ld nformaion sscurlty
senices

Excapt Finance Company which is 70% owned by the Company, and China Telecom Cloud Technology Co.,
Lid, which is B3% cwned by tha Compary. all of the above subsidiades are directly o indirectly whally-owned
by the Comparny, No subsidiries of the Group have matedal non-controfing Interesis, Mone of the subsidaries
had lssusd any debt securitles at the end of the year,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decembear 2022

10. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

31 December
2022 2021
RMB million RMB million:
Cost of investment in associates and joint veniures 35,964 36,083
Share of post-acouisition changes in net assets 5,256 4,183
42,200 a1, 166

Tha Group's inlerests in assodatas and joint venluras are accounted for undar the aquity mathod. Detaits of the
Group's principal associalas are a5 lollows:

Attributabla

Nama of company equity interast  Principal activities

China Tower Cornporation Limited 20.5% Construction, maintenance and operation of
{hote [ communications towers as wall as ancilary

ipcilites

Shanghai lnformation kesiment 24.0% Information lechnology consulling services
Incorparation (Nate ()

aan:

] Chna Toiver is estahishod and ocperated in the FAC, and kstod on the Afain Soand of The Stook Exchange of Mong Kong Limited on
8 Acguatf 2003

W Shangi INGemabion medimant ncoponion CEangha ik 17 & esfalisd wdl op 3 i1 sher FRC arad 2 nol fraded
o aey Sloch aschanpe.

201/290



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
ooOooood

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

10. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Summarnisad financial information of the Group's principal associates-and reconcilation 1o 1he Camying amaunts
af interests in associates in the Group's consclidated financial statements are distiosed below:

China Tower
31 December
2022 2021
RMEBE million BME million
Currant assels 48,706 48344
Mon-current assats 255854 274915
Current lisbifities 65,158 16,182
Nof-cumant inbiities 46,811 &7, 723
2022 2021
RMEB million BE miflian
Cperating revanues #2170 BB 585
[Profit tor the year BTET 7328
Cither comprahansive incoma for the year - )
Total comprehensive income for tha year 8,787 7,927
Dividand recetved from China Tower 47 807
Reconcle to the Group's interests in the associale:
31 December
2022 2021
AMB milien RIS mitlon
INel assals of China Tower 193,50 183,354
Mor-contraling inferests of China Towes - -
The Group's effective interest in China Tower 20.5% 20.5%
The Group's share of nat assets of China Tower 30,686 38,818
Adjustrant for the remaining balance of the: defsrred gain from
the Tower Assets Disposal 415) (568
Camrying amount of the interast in China Tower in the consolidated
financia statemants. of the Group 0,271 38,260

[Fair value of China Towear calculated bused on quated prics 27,078 25374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

10. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Shanghai Info-investment

31 Decembor
2022 2021
AME million AME millicn
Currenl assats 5,768 6,783
Mon-curment assets 6,556 4,272
Current labdties 1,857 1,712
Mor-currant Eabiites 2,559 1.814
2022 2021
RMB million AMB million
Operating revenues 1,403 1,470
Prodt for the yesr 730 BE3
Othar comprehensive income for the year 2k -
Tolal comprahansive incoma for the yaar a7 BE3
Dividend recsbeed from Shangha Info-investment 18 18
Reconclle 1o the Group's infterasts in fhe associate:
31 December
2022 2021
RMEB milllon RME millian
Met assals of Shanghal Infc-immstment 7.909 7528
Mor-controding interasts of Shanghai infe-mestment {17} [258)
The Group's effective interest in Shanghal Info-investment 24.0% 24.0%
Tha Group's share of net assets of Shanghal Info-investment 1,894 1,745
Carying amount of the: infarest in Shangha Info-investmant in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 1,894 1,745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

10. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Aggregate financial information of the Group's sssociates &nd joint ventures. that are not indnvidually mabesial is

disclossd Delow:
2022 201
RME million EME million
The Grodg's shave of prohil of hese associabes Snd it vanlunes (B8] 122
Tha Group’s shara of folal comprehensive income of these associates
and joint veriures (BE) 122
31 December
2022 2021

RME million BME million

Aggragats carmying amount of inflarasts in thess associalas and joint
vaniures in the consolidated Snancicd staternents af the Group 1,055 1171

11. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31 December
2022 2021
Motes AMB millicn RME mifion
Ecusty securibes of ksted companies (1] 759 D42
Unkstad equity securities (i} 128 274
885 1216

o
il Thar aitcree isled écrely nsnuments regresent ondinary shanes of Ested anfios. These rvestmants are nof held o faoing. nshead,

My’ Junir Pl Jo I B Sl PUFPORaE. Thd Jhmciovs o e COMBany il e ied I Seonale Uik FRasstmints i soaly’
rastramants a5 af FYTOC! a8 Sy Del Mal recoprnisns shor-hamn Aciustions i hese imestiments’ & wile i oroft or bes would
not b consimtenl with the Groug's stmlegy of holdng thoge srostments for bng-lam pUpeses and rmalEng ot po o
potntad in e iong run

i This aitscrr rdised Araly secirbes fovesant b OUD S ooy micmels © vanous privile s, The deectors of e Compiy
vy siected o desgrae theas stmants i eguly inslmments a5 al FYTOCT ag they balme thad 8he Group will ol these
o oy art piradeg o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The componants of defarmad a0 assats and dalermed tax kabdites balore offsetling are as folows:

Deferred tax assots Doferrod tax Habilities
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Decamber
2002 20 2002 2021
AMB millon  BEMEmilon  AMB milllon  FME millon
Accrued salanes, wagas and olher banefits 2,115 1416 - -
Temporary receipls of demoition and
rrcdification and delered revenues 2627 2.286 - -
Degreciation, write-cdf and impairment of
property, plant and squipment, slc. 2,535 2 675 (35,479) {30,202
Irmpairment losses of accounts recatvables 1,404 1,140 = =
Subscriber points rewasd progeam 1,064 11058 - -
Righ-ol-use assats and lease iabiilbes T3 B45 - -
Equity irsstruments at fair vaile through
ot comprahansive iIncomea 9 - (110} {151}
Oithers 78 D44 : =
Defarred tax assatsfiabiibes) 11,465 10,364 (a5, 589) (30,353)

Az at 31 December 2022, the offsetling amount of deferred tax assets-and deferrad tax liabdlities was
AMET 644 milicn (31 December 2021; RMB3,676 milkon). As at 31 December 2022, nat dalerad tax assels
and deberred tax liabiities afer cltsetting wene AMES, 821 miflon (31 Decernber. 2021: RMBG,688 milbon) and
RMBET, 245 million (31 December 2021: AMB28,677 milkon), respectvely,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
Tha moverment of defemed tax assels and defermed tax labilies ane as follows:

Recognised in
consolidated

Balanco asat  statementof  Balance as at

1January comprehensive 31 Decomboer

2022 ingome 202
RMB millicn RMB millizn RMEB million
Accrued salaies, wages and other benalits 1,416 699 2,115
Tarrgxaary racsipts of damcliion and modification
and dalemed reverass 2,286 41 2,827
Dapraciation, wiite-olf and impairmant of property,
jplant and aquipmant, abs, 2,675 {139 2,535
mparment kassas ol actounts recehabla 1,140 Fait 1,404
Subecriber points reward program 1,058 & 1,064
Right-ol-use assets and lsass liailties 845 (114) e
Equity instruments at f2r value theough othes
COMprenansie ncoms - g ]
Others L 35 are
Defarred tax assats 10,3654 1,101 11,485
Depreciation, write-off and impaimment of property,
Ligalaliic btk (20,202 ol il
Equsty instruments at fair valua through 2
ather comprehenshe Incoms [151) 41 (110

Deferred tax kabiibes {30,353) (5,236) 135,589
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Ricogneed in
consoliiatad

stalernent of Babnceasal

Boarceasal  compehensie Disposof 51 Decambed

1 oy 2021 Frcoma aubsdaies 20

RE millon RME million FME milion FME millon

Acrrued sabries. wages nd offor baredts ] &7 i 1416
Tosmporary raceipls of demektion and modkication

and defamed revenues 1991 bt - 2206
Dograciation, wrk-clf and engismant of propaty,

plen anel equiment, aiz. 274 ) = 2675

impaerent ksses of accourts tecahabi 1,08 121 (et 1140

Subacriber poinks e progem BE3 1% - 1068

Right-of-ma assats and kesa Eebliies ]| 54 = B45

Dihers 5 a [rs:] G4

Deaerred] bax asols a3z 112 (] 10384
Degacialion, write-of and mpaiment of property,

gt andd equpement. ol {25,009 {0078 14 3020

Erpay insiruments al fair vake Srouch
oibier comgrohanshe ncome {130 {15 1 (151
Deterred ko febifies 25548 BER 15 @353

Defarrad tax assals are racogrized for deductibia temparary differences and ftax losses camy-forwards onlly
to e mxtent that the reakization of the relatod too: banadt Brough future taxable profits is probabde. Certain
subsidiaries of the Group did nol recognize defarmed tax assets of AMBSZE million (31 December 2021:
RAMEBS42 million) in respect af daducitible termporany diflerences and lax losses amounting to AMBS, 130 millian
(31 Decambsar 2021: BMB2.571 million] that can be carried forwand aganst future faxatds profits as al 31
December 2022, The ceductible tax insses are alowed 10 be camed forward within next five years against
future taxable profts, whiss those of high-tech enferprises are allowed 1o be within next ten vears,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

13. OTHER ASSETS

31 December
2022 2021
Noles RMB million RME miion
Confract costs i 1,503 1436
Diher kerg-term prepald axpensss and recenablos 1 7632 EH25
9,135 7.261
tites:

B

Confract costs captalsed as &f ¥ Decembar 2002 and 2027 manly retals fo he direct oosf of the prowvision of winsios larmna's o
siibponberg for the provision of Winsdne and Smart Family senvioes of the Group, The amoont of capstalsed costs moognised in' profif
o s o e e et 31 Decermber F022 was RWE T 752 miion 2021 RUWBT 554 million, T wes 0o smoairmsnd it radation
R B cyprsg badance of capdalaed cosfs o fhe coste copstaioed’ dung dhe paar

Cother long=Henm Propan’ axnenses AT Movaties My Nolc Grepayments of orstchon and maftna’s, oic.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decemibar 2022

14. JOINT OPERATION

On 9 September 2018, the Group entered into a framework. cooperation agreemant (tha *Cooperation
Agresment”) with China Unitad Metwork Communications Corporation Limied ("China Unicom”) fo co-build and
oo-share cortain 5G acoess natwork. Pursuant 1o the Cooperation Agreemant, the Group and China Unicom
delineale and desagnate the regions to joinlly corsiruct and operate ona 5G access natwork natiomaica. In
certain regions, the 5G access network s construcied, operated and maintained by China Unicom, while the
Group cparates its 56 business reling on China Unicom's natwaork; wheneas in olher regions whare the 5G
B0cass network s construciod, oparated and mantained by (e Group, China Unicom operates ils 56 business
rehying on the Group's natwork.

Purssant 1o the Cooperation Agreamant, the Group and China Unicom co-shara 56 spectum resources whils
the 56 core network 5 respectively constructed, operaled and maintained by each party. Both parlies jointy
ansure an unified standard on network planning, construction, cperation, maintenance and senvice quality in the
55 nebwork co-bulld and co-share ragions, and assura the same sanvice level be dalivered.

The 5G network co-bulld and co-share amangement |s agreed by the Group and China Unlcom through
coardination and promation instiution jointly estabished by bath parties, In order 1o sel up the relevant
miechaniam, syshem and rues with unenimous consensus reached by both parties. The main function of such
joint cocrdination and promation instituticn is 1o carry out joint netwark planning and investment decisian,
pregect infllation and accaplance and other related works, such as the determination of the location of 5G base
staticns and the types of eqepment to be used, and coordinate the opsraticn and manienance o 53 co-
build and co-share natwork inorder to ensure the effective iImplsmentation of the Cooperation Agreemant.
For axampia, ha timing, scals and location af the 5G base station construction, salaction of equipment and
appointment of mantenance suppiers acroes all ragions are & negotiated and agreed by Both partias with
UNsnimsous ConNSsensus.

Lindar tha joint operation, the business and Dranding of each party continue to oparate independantly, and
the subscribens To e Senvices ane owned by each party, respectively. Fevenues derived from sach party's
subscribers are recognised by each party independently; cost and expenses are assumed by each party
raspactively; whils assets constructed by each party and the related liabiities ars racogrised and assumed by
each respective perty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

15. INVENTORIES

31 December
2021
AME millicn BB milion
Materials and supplies 433 410
Goods for resale ' 3,080 3417
3513 3.827
16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
Accounts recehvable, nal. are analysed as foliows:
31 December
2021
[ =li] AMEB millicn BB milion
Third parttas 27,714 26,067
China Telscom Gioup 0 2013 1889
China Towear 23 ]
Other telscommunications operators in the PRC 619 475
30,428 27440
LLess: Mowancs for cradil losses {68,117) {5,051}
24312 22,388
icbe:
[4] Chiruy T g Covp e wilh 5 Slbecianes ot Fian e Groue am refimed 1o a5 Thing, Teleom G
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the yvear endad 31 Decemibar 2082

16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the gross camying amounts of accounts receivable from contracts with

cuslomans amounted o AMB30,380 millcn, and AMB2T 332 million.

Ageing analyeis of accounts recehvabla from telephone and Intermeat subsoribers based on the biling dales s as

Tl

31 December
2022 202
RMB million AMB milion
Cument, within 1 morih 6,405 7,184
1 to 3 menths 2,040 1,653
4 1o 6 months o7
7 10 12 manths 1,234 o928
e 12 months 1317 1,078
11,803 11,546
Liess: Allowanocs for credi losses (3,335 {2,890}
8,468 8,856

Ageirng analysis of accounts receivatle from other tedecommunications cperalons and enterprise cusiomers

based on dates of rendsring of senvices is as folkows:

3 December
2022 2021
RME million RME millian
1 to 6 monihs .87 10,581
7 112 months 3,537 1,908
1102 years 1,709 2012
2 to 3 years BT 563
Crver 3 years 586 -B2g
18,626 15,834
Less: Allwance for credt losses (2, 782) (2.361)
15,844 13633

As al 31 December 2022 and 2021, included in the net Dalance of the Group's acoounis recevable are detlors
with an aggregate camrying amount of RMBEZ,142 milicn and AMEB1, 790 million, respectively, which are past

dhuss a8 Al the reparting date,

Detaits of impairment assessment of accounts recahvable for the year ended 31 Decernber 2022 and 2021 are

et oud I Nobe 40,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

17. CONTRACT ASSETS

31 December
2021
RME million BMB million
Trird partias 2,937 702
China Tesscom Group 180 139
3,117 931
Lese: Provision for impainment loss (75) 19
3,042 atz

Confract assals mainly anse from contracts for the provision of industrial digitalisation and wirdine and smart
lamily services, The Group classifies thess contract assels as currant because the Group expects 1o realise
1heam in (ks normal operating cycles which i generally within a year,

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

31 December
22 2021
MNata RAMB million FME milion
Ameunts due from China Telecom Group il 8,848 2,756
Amounts due from China Tower 43 B3

Amounts due ronm other idecommunicaions

operators in tha PRC 199 207
Cihar redansalbles 5,582 4,404
Lisss: Alowanca for credit losses (T22) (508
Prapayments in connaction with temminal equipment purchases 6,206 4,843
Prapaid expenses and deposits 3,657 3184
Value-added L recoverable 9,850 9,636

33,751 24,585
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

18. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

(i

[ Az at 31 Docember 2022, amounds dus fom Ching Teloom Group ncluced shorsferm ioans of AVES 0T milion. granted fo Ching
Testazorn Gironed and i subschans by Fndios G W, dead an imp T gl af RAB 16T mdlon, inchudimg:

- Armicaant of FIVIES, 000 eofSon with v dahe of 26 ey JOIT, sy gt of 235 Janiany S053, e rade of 335
&) Amsounf of RLEHE 000 el with Esve e of 25 May 2022, wpry cide of 24 May 2023, intwes! ale of 359

(= Amount of FRSS mdicn weh deie aahe of 4 July S22 wqpery dade of 3 il IS, inferecl e of 4350 the pencipal of
RAERS million has Booen recakd in 2022,

] Amcunt of RVEES million with seues dale of 18 August J057, svpiy dale of 17 Avgust 2023, infemed rate of 399 the
Erncipal of RAVAE 10 midtory T e o 2022

i Amount of RVEE 000 miion with issoe dahe of 23 Deoemier 2057, aupiy dale of 22 December 2053, inferos? rate of 3359

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

3 December
2022 2021
RAME million RME millian
[restated)
Cash at bank: and in hand 65,234 71,7680
Time deposits with onginal rmaturity within thvee months 7230 1,624
72,465 FE284
20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS
Shori-term debis comprisa:
31 December
2022 2021
AME million AMEB millian
Loans from banks — unsecured 2,840 2,821
Total shon-term dabls 2,840 2,821

The weighiend average intensst rate of the Group's tolal shor-leem debis as at 31 Decembar 2022 was 3.3% (31
Decembear 2021: 3.7%)] per annum. As al 31 December 2022, the Group's loans from banks bear interests al
rabes ranging from 3.0% 1o 4.1% (31 Decembar 2021:3.3% 10 4.4%) per annum, and are repayable within one
YA,
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20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (continued)
Long-term Oebls Comprse:
31 December

Interest rates and final maturity 2022 2021
RMB million  FME milion

Bank loans - unsecured

Penminki denominatad (Moka ) Interest rates ranging from 1.08%
to 1.20% per annum with
mialurities through 2036 531 61789
US Dollars dancminabed Intarast rates ranging from 1.26%
b0 2.005% par annum with
malurifiss through 2028 178 185
Eurc dencminated Interast rate of 2.30% per anmum
with maturitias through 2032 ar 114
5506 £.478
Other loans - unsecured
Rerminbi denominated 1 1
Medium-term notes - Lnesecursd
(Mot i) - 5,150
Compary bonds — Unsscured
(Mota &) 2,047 2,048
Total long-term debis T, Gdd 13675
Less: Gurant portion (2,160} {6,280,

Nof-cumant porticn 4,484 7.505
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20. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBTS (continued)

Long-tenm debls compriss (Comtinged):
Hotes:

[ T pants frvy anks inciucks Srg-tenmt RATE dencminanied oownmmsnd Dand sl Deious-ondchnl indenice! mfel moging fom LOEY o
I 20% pee- annum obbynnd By e Group Svough banks The "Low-ndevest Loans"L The Sroup secognised the Lovw-misnest Loans at
S o v o intid recegralion, Al accreiid the dRscnied [0 peofl o s Lisng B effective infieesd rafe mefod. The alfenesee
bedtvionn Shr i vadue and aoe value of e Low-nderost Loans was recogrsed &5 goveimement gl 1 accrued anpenses and ot
R S0 atha nR-CLrm! k.

(] On 22 Jarwany 2018, e Groug Ssued a thae-year RVE denomnated medin-fenm nobe, amounding fo RVES, 000 melion, with
infevas! rale of JA2% per arnum, and incurmed seuing cosls of RUBT milion. T mscium-fem nofs s unsscunsd aidl e Deon Ll
it o0 21 danuary 2082

On 19 March 2078, e Group ssed 8 Meesyesr AWE denomesded mediumsiemn nobs, amountng i AVES, 000 millon, with
nitares! mafe of 3415 por sdnum and ncwad e coss of RMBT mifon. The meditm- e fode @ irasscumsd and' fus been Ll
o on 18 March 2002

i) On 10 Mach 2020, the Geoup Ssoed hee-year RUE denomihalad company bonds, amooniing fo FWER 800 miion, lo qualfied
maEons o Shanghal Stock Evchanoe, with inleres mie of 2 00% por som. The W boncs B o 3 8 e eyl
on I March 2023,

The aggregate maturitiss of the Group's long-term cebits subsaquent to 31 December 2022 are as follows:

31 December
2022 2021
RME million AME million
Within 1 year 3,160 6,280
Batwean 1 1o 2 years 1,079 s108
Baotwoen 2 o3 years: 1,045 1,028
Batween 3 o4 years 743 995
Batween 4 105 years 328 BAT
Tharsatiar 1,289 1,622

7,644 13,675

The Group’s shorl-term and jong-term debits do not contain any fnancial covenants. As at 31 December 2022,
the: Group had unutiisad credit Baclites amounting to AMB23S, 638 million (31 Decembes 2021; AMB27E 4583
mion.
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21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts peyabhe ane analysed a5 folows:

31 December
2022 204
RMB million FlE millon
frestated)
Third parties 98,076 53200
China Telscom Group 23471 21013
Chira Tower 4,340 3814
Ciher telecommunications operators in the PRC &73 B6T
127 260 114,808

Amcunts dus o China Telecom Group and China Tower are payable in aocordance with contractusl fems
wiich are smilar fo those lerms ollered by third parties,

Ageing analysis of accounts payalie based on the due dates is as follows:

31 December
2022 2081
RME millicn FME millon
{restated)
Due within 1 month or on demand 22,078 20,291
Dug-atier 1 month but within 3 months 28,308 23,965
D after 3 months but within B months - 33,280 36,338
Due after § months 43,504 34,200

127,260 114,893
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22. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December
2022 2021
RMB million AMB million
Amounts dus o China Telecom Group 19,841 15,249
Amounis dus 16 Crina Tower 1590 1,506
Amounts due i other falscommunications oparators in the PRC 19 2.
Accrued expenses 25,404 24,041
Vilue-added tax payable 52 1,029
Daposits and rental recetpt in advanca 5,844 ETTT
Accrued salanies, wages and olher benefits 11,579 B.051
65,220 EE,TES
23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
31 Docember
2022 2021
RME million RME million
Third parties 87,570 70,713
China Telecom Group 271 198
Cina Tower & 8
67,841 70,014

Matority of comiract kabilites as ab 31 December 2021 was recognised as operabing revenues for the year
anded 31 Dacember 2022,
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES

31 December
2021
RAMB million FRMEB milfion
{rastabed)
Witisir o yoar 14,488 13810
Within a periad of more than one year but not mors than hwo years 13,228 8,780
Within a period of more than wo years but nol mone than fve yeers 35,655 14,447
Within a period of more than ive years 3528 5367
66,556 42,404
Less: Cusrant portion (14,488 (13,8109
INCI-CUmenE prtion 52,408 26,584
25. SHARE CAPITAL
31 Decembar
201

RAME million RME million

Registered, issued and fully paid

T7.620,728,609 A shares of AME1.00 each 77,630 77,830

13.877.410.000 H sharaes of RMB1.00 each 13,877 13.877
91,507 91,507
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26. RESERVES
The Group
Capitd Bare  fuphks  Generd Other  Exchinge  Fetaned
MbayE  pramium reserves  fiskeeserve reerves Peemves  eamings Toldl
RiEmiion FMEmion AMBmilon FMEnlicn AMBmilcn FMSmilion RMEmBon FRMEmiio
stz iy PolefEll el (Mot (i)
Baivor mal | iy 201 1748 sl T i ko T RS -1 A
Tots comprrere more b the e
st - - - - 5 &3 i Ein
M b ety combration (ndee
Sommen ool 3 - - - - - B 3
ismuarca of s upen A e Ofirg,
sl g mperses - Er - - - - - e
Consbulicr: bom rorccriroling riescs L . - - - = E =
Digprosy of supenares - - - 8 - 3 E
S smocstes s Ot et ol
changes in s 4 - - - - - - ]
D et 37 = E = - = = B L
Aoorogriions 0 ANy Bupiis Heene
=10 5 . 4 - - - R L] =
Ropecpretns 1o geners e msena e ) > 3 = H = 3 4] =
Boroe e ot Dacemier (01, oo st ma 7 BT 4 et (M om0 omnm
Tots comprehensys ncome fof e year . . - - itr] T T E
Coregersion ki ertfy oombretion o
e ST [x] - - - i F i m
Hepsstion of roncorirolng st i] - - - - - - il
Cortibton o non-coriring Fismet 154 - - - - - - 154
S of ametising el jod verdne o
e NS i = % = : = A ]
Diarca s 37) - - - - - - [Fsn  gEsm
lepropriors 1o s Uiy STt nsae
o=@ 5 - L - - - (el =1 &
heprmprmsiorg o gere fon amne Nt ) - - - B - - B -
Bloow a8 ot 31 Dnoaricer 2020 18710 o B50 " & - T P ST ]
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26. RESERVES (continued)

The Company
Capal Share Surplas Other Retaned
TesEnve [pramium TESEYES PREEREs BHTIGE Tedal
AMEmiion  RMEmilion AMEmilion AMEmilon  RMEmilion  AME milion
{Naste Mt [l (ot (R Mok iy
Erabarce 52 3l 1 January 2024 2ER0N 10,746 Toas 12 HEE LA
Total camprahere incame or the yer - - - 4 242H 28T
fesuanos of sheres Lpon A Shares Ofiang,
ek o Eving mepnges - - HBH - - - o
Shars of assocates and jont ventures o
dhangss in pesiries 0 - - - E [
Ditvidends (ke 37} = > = = B A 3433
dpprcpristions o shafubry supke Teseng
Picta - - 242 - e -
Batance az ol 31 Decarber 2021 28761 47 AT 8 17 15878 HITEES
Total cornpoaharei incoma iar tha v - - - {123 44 H1N
Share of assockbes and jort venlunes” ofhir
changes in recareg ] - - - ol ]
Ebvidends (ot 37) - - - - {26,537 [859m
fppropriations to siatulory suphs meng.

Pz - - 2
Eisance e of 31 Dacerrbar 222 815 47 58T BAOE ] 155,806 a7
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26. RESERVES (continued)

] Capilal mesorie of the Group il monesents e sum of () B cifenence befveen the carning smound of the Company's nel assefs
wexd e puar varke o e Cicrmoany's shaes s ipon s levmadion: i) the cifieance babapen i consdetion pad by i Grup
ior the companies acquned, from Ching Tedsoomt Graup iwhich wenn acoounted lbr as equety’ fransactions, and' the historcal camyng
anodrt of (o rf S of these acquinied ComIueRE a0 i} B J r Iy it pad by the Groop dor ifw
acquistion of non-contmling mdevests and the camying amount of the nan-contmding nfanssts acqoied.

Capia’ rdsane of Me Company reprosents [he dfiencs bedweon the civmpng amount of ihe Company's ned assels and the par
e of e Company's Shiees s ceor) iy Rvmalon,

1] mmwhmmhwwumnmﬂuhwwmnmmn
FUTOCH and fsh chfmed S nicopmited dus 1o fhe change in lair vaie of oo & i

inf The gurpius resees SOl of SHbultny furpius e and demedonay ST e,

According o the Company's Aticles of Association ihe Compuny 8 requened io rassler 1056 of e ref peofil. as detavmined in
accomiance with the lower of the amount dedsrmined nder Ching Acocunting Standards ior Businoss Bnlwpnses: and e amount
Chlarrmdtad e (FREEE. 1O Shir SrUiony slvpic resane ntl Juch rcene Dalince maches 5006 of ihe mpiaiened caodal, The
irnnsfer o this masernve mast be macks batfore disstiboton of any diedend lo sharsholoers. For the paars snded 31 December 2022 and
D021, et proit of Bve Compansy ] ol wellly Chinar A trgy Standards for Busieas Entarprises and FRSs
o [ same For e pear enced 37 December 2022, the Company tarsfemed RUEZ.624 millon 2027 AMBZ 423 millon], beng
1% i o s o v, 1o sk raeiion, A8 o 311 Dacwmiber 2002 i dvnourl of SEARUIDAY Sudpis riceal wiad RVIERIS 522 ralion
1 Decambar 2021 RUBIE, 155 rillion)

Thit Comnpany did mal ireinslar any distrediondny sapler ressrve [OF M yean ented 31 Decambaer 2002 and 2027, Az af 31
Decamber 2002 ano 2027, fer amoonf of déecsbonary surpies reserve wa RAVEES 079 millon.

The alafufory and dlscretionary supius am non-deirbutable ciher than i kgucalion and can be tsed fo make pood of
ool yean” kesos, # amy, and may be wdised for busioess ssponson of comveried info share capital By dsung i sharey i
westing shamsholders in proportion B0 heir shassholdngs or by incrasng the par vaiue of the shares cumently heid by fhem, paovided
shat Shes amaining SNy SRS AEen DNCE aMar SLCH AEIUE I MOl ISR i 25% of fhe reciehied capdinl

[} mumw:m«mwmwmwmwﬂwmmwm
Company 18 i v of e amoond of the Company’'s n ce il G A sy Stondiss
bmwmnmmnmmm Az o 31 Decembar 2022, mmwm
aamings aralbl for gistnbudion was RUBT55 806 millon (31 Decembe 2021 RUBTSE, 723 miion), beng the armourd dolammined
i accomance Wil FRSE. Fnal dividend’ of aporoosmatelyr RATEG,558 milon in respect of e financial year 2022 proposed’ affer the
ard of the mparting peviod ik mod Baen recognsd &8 5 Eabaly in B consoloiaind fnancd’ Rialemends oF e and of e epoding
peviod (hicter 37

M Fumamnt fo Foquinsments on impaimend Alowancs ©r Fnancal instifutons™ (Can [2002] Mo, 205 eoea by the Ainisty of Bnance
of e FRC efectve o | el 2002 Ahe “Reerements’) e Groug's subediories mand' Franoe Corpany. asfabish a penval rsk
resane wilhsh equly, Shouph anpoprahon of mdained’ samings, fo addness unidentiied polential losses relating o rsk assels. The
porwieal resik PR EAGINCT BhoLAd nof B i S 1S5 of e encing Dalangn o mak ARt aF delited i e Risguinments
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27. OPERATING REVENUES

Disaggragation of revenue
2022 2021
Motes RME million RME miion
(restated)
Type of goods or services
Sandce fevenuas 434,928 402,828
Mobile communications serice revenues fll 191,026 184,158
Wiraling and Smart Family Sanice rewenues: {5 118,534 113,622
Incustrtal Digitalisation Senics rvenLns ] 117,756 98,945
Oither senvice ravenes (7 7,612 6,203
Sales of goods and others [\] 46,520 36.725
Total operating revenues 481,448 430,653
Revenus from customer contracts 472,952 431,911
Revenue from ather sources and oihers ' 8,496 7,642
Total operating revenues 481,448 433,553
Timing of ravenue recognition
A paint in time 40,039 31332
Over time 441,409 408221
Total oparating revenuess 481,448 433 553
e
(] Rnpraspal pamandy e asomeats amount of mobis COMMUNRCABoNE 300 s, Mobds INMed ACofes s oo, caler 1D

Sorvice foes. and shor MessagEng sovice fes. efic,; charped 10 cuslnmens b the prosssion of mobie senvices.

" Reprsant prmanky the aporegale smound of winsing communications sendoe lees, broactand demet sccdss sence fees, &-Surfng
HO pevrvce foes and Smart Famsly appicabions sendon G, sic. 0harped 50 cusionmons for ihe provison of viming seniced.

] Fopresant primanty e aporegate amoln! of lees charpad o cosfomers for the provanon of infermel datnconfre senvoes. Cloud

[ Rapripe priraank' Fw soenigade amoont of et Fom prooary renlal and off araniiag
[} Faprassnt priraily eV o S of ks M sxuapvnn? &8 w85 Wit CorTRCAlonS sCuaDrEnt and gowTimany
Lrants.

Az at 31 December 2002 and 2021, the aggregated amount of the trarmmaction price aliccated 1o the remaining
parformance obligations undsr the Group's existing contracts represants revenue expeciad 1o be recognised in
e Tuture whan senAces ana provided over tha confract terns over The next 1 1o 3 years,
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28. NETWORK OPERATIONS AND SUPPORT

2022 2021

Mots AME million RAMB million
resstated)
Operating and maintenance 88 682 70,377
Uity 18,055 16,200
Network resources usage and related foes M 28,173 25 318
= 12,670 12,436
147,580 133,340

-

e porgrile RO SRCDNNG O & ok O 8 ride 00 e o non-iie SorREonand i et of communicalng oveirs and
ndatod assels laace and the usape of netwonk resourTes providled by thisd partes.

29. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Parsonned axpensss ang atinbuotable 1o the follmeing funcBions:

2022 2021

RME million AME million

(restated)

Natwork apseations and suppor 53,347 48,576
Safing, general and administrative 31,425 27,481

84,772 TB05T
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

30.

31.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2022 2021
Moles RMB millicn RMB million
Interconnection changes fi 13,052 12,858
Cost of goods sokd il 38,592 30415
Danations 3] 12
Cahers i) 1,801 1,806
54,451 45,088
et
[} IniprgevieCi SRR SR BTKHANS Cerd for [ o Of O Gt a0 Seoeaan o '\
nefvoks dor delvany of vouod and dafa fraffic Shat ognate from the Soup's fesscomminicalions nafwonks
[ Costof goods ol prmary moresents cost of commuNCANaS Bqupment soid,
Citwrs iy’ ok B andd serchugms SIor P vaius-aokced by g mcomae fax
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
2022 2021
hate RME million FIME miion
irastabed)
Channal commission and customer senvices expenses 47 260 45157
Advertising end promation expenses 2,804 2,904
Propecty and transporation related expanses 2,982 2,865
Resaarch and devalopmant expanses i 4,199 3,370
Aditors® remunsaration
= Al sandces 59 &7
= hon-audi Senices 5] T
Oihera 8,937 5,765
64,277 61,154

fl The item does not iNciude: depraciaticn and amortization and personngl expensss related 1o ressarch

and dessicoment,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 Decembear 2022

32. NET FINANCE COSTS

2022 201
AMB million AMB million
Irterast axpenss on leass kabdites 1,425 1,399
imenast expersa on shor-lanm and keeg-tarmm debts 556 1110
Less: Inerest expense capitalisad” {100} {105}
Met interast expense 1,881 2404
Infarast inconma {1,808} {1,104}
Nt foreign exchange gain or loss and ofhars (66) i
7 1,283
' PEBal SXpAnD WS capalnad In conatruction in prograss
at the Iliowing rates per annum 3.4%-3.6% 3.0%-4.5%
33. INCOME TAX
Incorme tay in the prafit or loss comprises:
2022 2021
RMEB million AME million
Prossian for PARC incomea 1ax 3,676 3,606
Prevtsion: for incoms tex in other: tax junsdictons 177 215
Doterrod taxnticn 4,185 3,805

8,038 Fir16
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

33. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciiation of the expected tax expense wilh the aciual tax expense is as folows:

2022 2021
Motes RME million RMES milion
{restated)
Profit bofors toaton 35,714 33,865
Expected incomea tax expansa at stabutory tae rale of 25% i 5,929 BAEG
Impact of tax incentives and reduchon including additional
daduction for guaified ressarch and development costs, ele, {1,061) {7ag)
Differantial tau rats cn-mainiand China subsidiades’ and
branches” incoms fl (764) 1495
Differantial ta rate on dther sUbsidianes” incoma i} (54) {70)
Non-deductible sxpensas i) 821 1,086
Non- taxable incoma (] [568) (522)
Tax alfect of daductible ternporary ditferencs and
daductibhs tax foss forwhich no defermed tao assat
WS [ecognized 803 245
it ] (68 (206)
Income tax expenss 8,038 7,716
e
(11} Excapd for ceriain subsiciane: and branches which aw mainly faed af the pfvential mie of 15%. $w provson e masndind Ching

Incovme it in-based on & siafulory rade of 258 of the assessable ncome of the Campany. iy mandand Lhina subsidianes and
Eranches b Selivmandd M SCOordands wdh e nevant inGome Ly il and’ repulalions of maniand Shisa

& I B 1F O Bhe CoMDETy B ey A Hop Kong s Macar Specal Adtnreratve Regdnd of M PRC, and 0
oifwyr counines ane 'based on the subsdlanes” sssessabls oM and HooMe LY mles appicalye e espectye faa grsdcfions
wihat riige oo 8% o 25%

(] Amaunts Mpeeant FECeianou SDeNsET N areest of akdory dedctible bmds or ax purposes.
Amounty repeosent shivoe of profls of Bes0ciaies Snd joid yUlleng and Mol moDme suhec’ 4 nor SLbEct 10 No0me L,

[\ Amounts prranky mpeesent selfement of iy fing difpmnces of proe yedr anncal L miem, sl
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for the yvear endad 31 Decamibar 2082

34. DIRECTORS' AND SUPERVISORS' REMUNERATION

The following fabie sets out the remuneration of the Company’s direcions and SUpenisors:

Salaries,
Directors’/  allowances Fetirement
supervisors'  and benefits Discrafionary scheme  Share-based

w2 foss inkind  bonusss' conlributions  payments Tatal

RAME RME RMBE AMBE FME RME

thousand thousand thousand thousand thousand thausand
Exscutive dirsctors
Ko Flusbwon - ] 2 10 B9
Li Zhengmaa’ - 137 A1l 5 - T
Shao Guangh - = ksl 105 - 657
Liu Guiing - A kil 104 - &2
Tang Ke' - s 33 104 626
Hor-axesitive director
Chen Eningguang . - - - -
Imdependant non-axscutive
directars’

Taa Hat Yin, Alyysiis’ ] - L - - 401
0 Emring’ 250 - - - - 250
Wang Hsushming 268 - - - - 268
Yeung Chi Wi, Jason 268 = i - - 255
Supervisors
Sui Yon® - £ s 5 - ki
o Minglang® = = = - = =
Trang Sanbin - T 110 - 1,083
[CaiBin - 225 T2l 106 + 1,052
X Shiguang - 15 728 B - 24
Han Fang’ - 158 511 B 758
Wang Yibing' = = = = =

1,277 1,688 4,352 aar = B.368
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34. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’' REMUNERATION (continued)

] M L Thangmas reqepned’ oz an aacibe ainecior of She Company on 12 Jduly 2082,

z M Tang Ko was apported a3 .00 excutive dlmechor of the Comomny o 22 March 20020

3 Fha indapencien nom-axacsitve direchons” rmunem ions wane fov Her sendces as dimclons of the Company.

4 Kbv: Tao Hau Vi, Aloysiis (M Tee' and M. X0 Ering (e Mo mesgned fiom postion as ndepondent nor-aectbies dineclors
of M Compary o 16 Asgxal J022. The rssnalon of Me. T and My X look sffect o B dale of alecion of Mhe peooasd
rdeymndent nor-tuneclifve dinclons of e eddaoainay penend meeling of the Company comvened oan G Janoany 2023 Prior o Il
M. Taap v M. e oty 10 ST SUE Mo T A8 IR i PO JireCiofs,

5 M. S ‘i and M. You Mingang resgned as supenisons of the Company on 22 Maoh 2022

& Macdarm Han Fang and Kadam Wang Tibing wens apponbed a8 supenisors of the Company on 22 March 2082,

s Thar alsc oy bonses of M oo dinecions And' Sonessans wie defenmined based on S Groun's penmance.

& During year 2022, the Company also seified Mo bonus for year 2021, including AME1, 080 MHowusand for Ke Rufven, RMBIZT
o o S Gaavighu, RVBETD Moiand G L Gheging, AMBIR bhousand K Ty Ke,

£ he ition of ar fovy and s Ve o Baged On) Mo Rneclivd achal beema of e wiEhe M e,
o of she JiNecions OF SUDENASCOYS caded ATy 4 w5 o joirinyg dhe Company or compensation for ioss of office. o waked

o B B3 W Iy aVIOLETRTE Juing M e
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34. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

Saares,

Directors'y dlowanoes Retkement

supandsors’  and boeedits  Discrefionary schame  Snare-Dased
2021 foes nknd  bonises'  cokbubors  payments Told
RMB RVE FMB RMEB R FMB:

Ahcussand Ihcaisand thousan Ihusind thachss:and Thaisandt
Executive directors
He Rutwen - 23 a5p 118 - oS
LiZhengrman - 24 =0 119 = 2
S Ganghs = i 37 114 - BAY
L Gudging - 00 a3 102 - E2d
T M’ - m a1 % - BT
Chen Thongue’ - 4 - i1l - 55
Non-exscutive director
Chon Ehengruirs] - - B = =

directors’

Toe Hau Yin, Aloysiss 450 - - - - 450
X Eming 250 - - - - 250
Wang Hsthiinyg 245 - - - = 245
Yeury Chi Wai, Jison 25 = = = = 245
Supervisors
Sl Vb’ B 25 =) 10 E 102
Thang Sanbin - Fre. 74T 100 - 108
DaiBin - 195 B0 w - B8
£ Shiguang - 112 38 B - 530
feu Mingiang! = E = = = =

1180 1,905 417 ) - 8150
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

34. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

] Moz Shu Mi rescned a5 an et grachor, axecoive vos pasoend, cha fnsncal offcer, secreary of e board ang
auitonsed epvesenfalve of the Company on 27 December 20271,

2 Me. Gy Thongyias repred as o asscidive dirscior of Shw Company on 1 Janiey 2021

3 Thin Iclaanchnt non-iacutie cincions” MmO ions wene Ky e senices a3 dimcion of e Campany,

4 Febe. S5 Yoo ("l S0 and M You Mindang (T You') raegmed frovn poston & supenvions of S Company o 17 Decenber
2021, The mesipnation of Mr. Swand Mr. Yol fook effect on [He dite of slection of the proposed supenvisons af the adracecdingy
e g o By W o o a2 March 2082, Prov o thal, M. S and L, Yisu conbiosa 10 coimy ool B Jubes a9
SIS,

g The dliscmbionany bontsie of M avacudie diiehons and supsnison wens defarmined Bassd o the Group s penbemance

& Durng year 2021, the Compainy slse settind e Borus A i 2020, nchaling RS 6 thourand for Kir Risven, RYBERT thowsand
Jor i Shengmiao, AMEBILT thousand for Shao Guanpiy, AVECAS thousand for Shen Thongyue and RVELSY odsang for sach of Liv
Gompray drd Fhis hdint

f The semunaaion of aff diecion: and' Supdnors wisrs Saoukfi Daged o Mo rdpeciod aciu deemas of ofioe within that year,

Novrwr of the direcions o suponvisors maoekved any induosmenls b Dining the Company or compensabon for loss of offce. or waived
O BTl B vAAm Sy ETRLATINE CTleng B v
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

35. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

(a) Five highest paid individuals

Mone of the fve ighest pald individuals of the Group for the years ended 31 Decembar 2022 and 2021
wera directors of the Company.

Tha aggregate of tha ameluments in reepect of the fve (2021; vl indiiduals {nen-giectors) with tha

highest emclumeants are as follows;
2022 2021
RME thousand RME thousand
Easarias, alowances and banells in kind T.218 &.321
Dizcrationary bonusas 5,589 4977
Retirement schame contributions T 4TS
13,594 10,777

Thi emciuments of tha fve (2021 fve) indidduals (non-deecions) with tha highast amalumants ane within

te folowing bands:
2022 2021
Number of Mumber of
individuals ndivickuals
RMBO — EME, 000,000 - =
AMBT,000,001 = AMET, 500,000 - —
AMEB 500,001 - AMB2, 000,000 - 1
More than RMB2.000.001 5 4

Nona of thase employess received any inducements for joining the Company or compensation for loss
of oifice, or waived any emcluments during the years presented,
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

35. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Senior management remuneration

The emoluments of the Group's senior managemant are within the foowing bands:

2021

Mumber of MNumber of

individuals Individuats

FMED = AMEB 1,000,000 17 18
FiE1,000 001 - BMB1.500,000 2 -

FiME1,500,001 — RMB2,000,000 - —

36. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the consoldated profit-attibutable to ety holders of the Compary
Inciudes a profit of AMBRE, 244 million which has been dealt weth in the stand-slone financial statements of the
Company.

For the year endad 31 December 2021, the consoldated profit attdbutable to equity holders of the Company
Includes a profit of AMB24, 234 million which has bean dealt With In the stand-alone financal sialements of the

Company.
37. DIVIDENDS

Pursuant 1o a resolution passed al the Board of Direclors' meeting on 22 March 2023, 8 final dividend of
FAMB0.07E per share (pre-tax) iotaling approximataly RMBE 955 million for the year ended 31 Decamber 2020
was proposed lor shaneholders’ approval al the Annual Genaral Meating. The drvidend has not been provided
tor in tha conaalidated fnanclal statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

37. DIVIDENDS (continued)

Pursuant to-a resoluton at the Board of Directors” meeting on- 16 August 2022, an interim dividend of
RMB0. 120 (squivalent te HKS0.139523) per share (pre-1ax) totaling approdmately RMB10,981 milkion in
raspact of the sbemonth penod ended 30 June 2022 was declared. The dividend of RMB2.316 midlion for A
shares was paid on & Seplamber 2022, and the dvidend of RMB1,665 midlion for H shares was paid on 14
Oclober 2022,

Pursuant to the shareholders’ spproval at the Annual Ganeral Meating held on 19 May 2022, a final divicend
of RMBD.170 {equivalent to HIKS0.197211) per share (pre-tax) totalling approxmately RMS15,556 million in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 was declared. Tha dividend of BMB 13,197 milion for A shares
was pald on 8 June 2022, and the dhidend of AMB2,353 milion for H shares was paid an 18 July 2022,

Pursuant 1o the sharsholdars' approval at the Annual General Meating hald on 7 May 2021, a final dhidend of
RMED, 104269 (squivalent 1o HKSO, 125) per share {pra-tas) totaling AMES 439 milllon in respect of the year
ended 31 December 20030 was declared, and padd on 1 June 2021,

38. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basle eamings per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is basad on the
prafit attributable 1o equity holders of the Comgpany of RMB27 503 millon and RMIB25 045 milion, respactivaly,
divided by the welghied avarags number of 91,507 ,138,699 shares and 84,442 405 521 shares in issue.

The amount of diutad eamings per sham squas basic aamings per shase as thers ware no potential ordinary
shares [n existence for the years presanted,
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for the year ended 31 December 2022

39. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

As al 31 Decamber 2022 and 2021, the Group had capital commilments as ofows:

31 Decembar
2021

RMEBE millien RMB milion

Confracted for but not provided

Property

Telecommunications natwork plant and equipment

1,584 1,831
15,023 18,942
16,607 20,773

Contingent liabilities

(1] The Group sssessed and concluded that no material contingent Eabilities ware assumed by the Group

with assistanca of the PRC wayers.

1] As al 31 December 2022 and 2021, tha Group did not have contingent Habllities in respect of
guarantees given o banks in respect of banking faciliies granted to other parties, or-othar forma of

contingant llabities,

Legal contingencies

The Group is a defendant in certain lewsuats as well as the named parly In other proceedings arnising in the
ordinary cowse of business, Management has asssssed the ielihood of an unfavourable cutcome of swuch
contingencios, lawsulls of othar proceedings and based on such assasarment, belseves thal amy resulting
ligbities will not heve a matenal adverse effect on the financial position, operating results or cash fiows of the

Group.
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2082

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Finencial assals of the Group inchude cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and resticted cash, squity
instruments at fair valus through other comprahensive income, accounts recenable, fnancial assats at tar value
through proft or loss and financial assets inchuded in prepayments and other curment assats. Financial Fabiities
ot the Group Include short-term and long-term debts. accounts. payable and financial liabilitles Included in
accrued expenses and other payables,

(a) Fair Value Measurements

Basad on IFRS 13, “Far Value Measursmeand”, the tair value of sach financlal instrument is categonsed in
itsantinaty based on e Knwest leved of input That &= significant 1o that tak value measurement, The kevels
ara defined as follows:

. Leval 1 fair waluas measured using quoted prices unadusted) in actne markets lor idantical
financial iInstruments

* Leval 2: fakr values measured using quoted prices in active markets far simiar financkal
instruments, or using valuation kechniques in which & significant inputs @re direclly or Indrectly
basad on obsanvable market data

* Lovil 3: lor values messuned using valuaton technigues in which any significant input s not
based on observabls mesket data

Thi fair valses of the Group's financial ingtruments (other than long-term dabils and finencial instruments

measured at {air valus) approximate their camying amounts due to the short-term maturity of these
rsirurnents:
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The listed equity securiies investiments included in the Group's equity insnumants at fair value through
other comprehanssve income and financlal assets at ter value through profit o loss are categorised
as leved 1 financial Instruments. As at 31 December 2022, the falr value of the Group's listed equily
securities irvastments is AMBTE2 milkon (31 December 2021; AMB342 million), based on quated
market price on PRC slock axchangas, Tha Groun's mestments in uniisted equity secanties, included
in fnancial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity iInstruments at fair valua through other
comprehansive income, are classified as financial Instruments categortsad as level 3. As at 31 Decamber
2022, 1he lair vaius of the Group's francial insfruments categonsad as lwel 3 iz AMBS2S milkon (31
Decamber 2021: AMBE22 milion), For the financial instruments which are not traded in active markets,
the Group establizhes far value by Using valualion techriques, The valuation methods or modals usad
prirnarily inchuds nat assal value method and market comparable company model, ate. The inpul values
of valuailon models mainly Include nel assat value and expected vield rates, etc,

The fair value of long-tarm dabls |s esfimaied by discounting fulure cash fows using curmen] markeal
interest rates offered to the Group for debis with substantally the same characteristics and maturities.
The tair vaiue measurement of long-term debis |5 calegonised as level 2. The Interest rates used by
the Gréwp In estimating the fair vaiues of long-tern debls, having considared the forsign curmendy
denomination of tha dabts, ranged fFom 2.0% t0'4,2% (31 December 2021: 2.0% 1o 4.9%), As 5t 31
Decamber 2022 and 2021, the cafnying amounts and fesr values of the Group's long-term cebils were &5

follions:
31 Decambar 2022 31 Decembear 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value AMOoLUM VRS
RMB million AMB million FMB milion  BME mifion
Long-term dabis 7.644 7613 13676 13,444

Durring the yaar, thans wira no transiers among nstruments in vel 1, loved 2 or lvel 3,
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks

The Group's financial instruments ans exposad o thres main ypes of risks, namely, credit risk, Sguidity
risk: and markat risk (which mainly comprises of Interast rate sk and forelan currency. exchange rale
risk). The Growp's overal risk management programme locuses on the unpradictability of fnancial
miarkels and seaks o minmise polential advarse effects on the Group's financil performance. Fisk
manageman is carred cut under polcies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board providas
principles & overall risk management, as well as polices covering specific areas, such as liquidity risk,
cradit risk, and market risk, atc. The Board regulary reviews these policies and authorises changes if
necessary based on operaling and markel conditions and othar relevant nsks. The folowing summarnses
the qualitative and quantitative disclogires for each of tha three main types of risies:

(i) Creditrisk
Credit risk reders o the risk that & counterparty will default on s contractual chiigations resulfing
In & firancial loss o the Group, For the Group, this arises mainty from deposits it maintaing al
fnancial Institutions and cradit It provides to custemers for the provizion of telecommunications
SEnACEs.

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits and restricted cash

Te lirnit eposune o credit risk relating to deposits, the Group priranly places cash deposits ongy
with large stabe-cwned financial institutions in the PRC with scoeptabla credt ratings. Tha cradit
risks on bank balances ans limited becauss the counterpartias ars banks with high credit ratings.

Acecounts receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

For accounts receivable and contract assats, management performs ongoing credit evaluations
of s customers” financlal condition and generally doas nob requine collateral on accounts
recaivable and coniract agsels. Thesa evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
maiking payrments whan due and curment sbilly to pay, and taks nto account information specific
1o the customer as wall a3 peftaining to the economic anvirormant in which the Cusiomer
operates, in addition, the Group parforms Impairment -assessment undes ECL modsl on trade
balances indvidually or based on provision matrix, Furthermars, the Group has a diversifiad base
ol customars with no. single customer contribuling mane than 10% of revenues for the years
presented.
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)

(i} Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

(continued)

The Group measunes l0ss alowances Tor accounts recaivabls and conlract assets at an amount
equal o idatme ECL, which is caiculated using a provision matrx, of individually assessed for
those dablors with significant balances or credit-impaired deblors. As diffarant loss patiems
weare Indicated during the anatysis of the Group's historical credit loss experience batwean
telaphong and internal: subscrbars and enterprise customens, the follcwing. 1ebles provide
information about the Group’s exposure 1o credit risk and ECL for accounts receivabie and
cantract assats from teephona and Intemeat subscribars and enterprisa cuslomars, raspactively,

as al 31 Decembeer 2022 and 2021;

Accounts receivabla from telephons and Inftemet subscribers;

31 December 2022
Expectad Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

RAME mikllian RMEB milion

Currant, within 1 month 6,164 123
1'to 3 months 1875 389
410 & months 781 468
7 to 12 months 1,213 970
Cwver 12 months 1,317 1,317

11,450 3,267
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for the year ended 31 Decembear 2022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)

() Creditrisk (continued)
Accounts recelvable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
{continued)
Accounts recahmable from telephons and Inlermat subscribens (continued);

31 December 2021
Expecled (Gross camying Lozs
loss rate amount allowancy
W% RMEB miflion AME millian
Curnent, withins 1 mcnth 2 T64 133
110 3 months 20 1,683 329
4 {0 & months EQ B 407
¥ 10 12 months &0 928 T4z
Owee 12 monihs 100 1,078 1,079
11,548 2,520

Accounts receivable and contract assets from enterprise customerns:

31 December 2022

Expected Gross canmying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

% RAMEB million AMEB million

.10 6 months 2 8,253 189

T 12 months 3 2,405 548
102 years 68 860

2o 3 years 100 Ire e

Ower 3 years 100 G608 608

12,514 2,310
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b} Risks (continued)

(i} Credit risk (continued)
Accounts receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
[continued)
Accounts recenvabla and contract assats rom antemriss cusiomerns [conlinued);

31 December 2021
Expected  Gross canying Loss
loss rali amaunt AW IR
% RE million FME milion
110 & months 3 7283 182
T 1012 months 1 1,068 223
1 1o 2 years 65 48 610
2103 Years a7 64 365
Crvar 3 yoars 100 AEF 4E7
10,146 1,848

As at 31 December 2022, the loss alowance for acoounts receivabie and confract assets was
AMBE, 117 milkon and RMBTS milion (2021: RMB5,051 miicn and RMB19 milicn), respectively,
Loss aliowancs of AMBAG6E million &s al 31 Decembar 2022 (2021: AMBE1T milion], which was
nal calculated collectively in the above tables, was made individually on debtors with sigrificant
balances or credil-impaired deblors,

Expecied loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 1 to 3 years, Thesa rates
ars adjusted to reflect dilfferences among economic condiions during the parod aver which
tha historical data has bean collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the recetvablas,
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for the year ended 31 Decemibear 2022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b} Risks (continued)

() Creditrisk (continued)
Accounts recelvable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
{continued)
Movement in the kiss allowance accound in respect of accounts receivable 5 as folkws:

2022 2021

RME million AIME million

A1 beginning of year 5,051 4,434
kmipasrniont ossas for ECL 2,007 1,650
Amoiss witten off {961} {1,072}
&t end o year 6,117 5,051

fii) Liguidity risk
Licpdity risk rafars 1o tha risk ihat funds will nol be avadabse toomeat Babdites as they fall dus,
and resuits fom liming and amount mismatchas of cash inflow and outfiow., The Group managoes
liquickty risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances and adeguate amount of committed banking
facilities to meet its funding neads, including working capital, principal and interest payments on
chabls, dvidend payrnents, capial ependitungs and new invesimants for 3 sat minirmum eciod
of between 3 to & months.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
{b) Risks [continued)
(i)  Liquidity risk {continued)

The following table sets oul the remaining confractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of tha Group's financial Eabilites and lsase liabdies, which ane based on contraciua
unciscounted cash fiows (ncluding interest payments computed using contraciual rates or, if
variable, based on prevaling rates al the end of the reparting peniod) and 1he sarkast dale the
Group would be required to repay;

1 Dacumiber 02
Totsl Morethan  More fhen
st Witn  lpwkd  parshd
Caryng  undasounied Tyear o Jesy than lessthan  Mors than
ament cshBow  cndemad  fpas Sy Spm
FMBrllen RMEmlln FMSslien RMEmisn PMBsilbon  RME mlln

Srortierm dsbis k- -] I8 - P .
iopamsatts 754 B 3% 198 155 140
eznirts parakie ik 17280 1% - - -
Rerring e i e pnpbos s am a2 - E i
e E THOM w8 14665 B 35
Ot son-ounie iebiles L 18 - 15 - -
bk BiE 1317H 16 L 56
A1 Dreambr 0
T Momien  Mosiw
trinchal W Tparhs  Zpesiu

Camjrg  Undecanted Vo = Bsg e hormiffen

o cahiw  ondemed Iy S e

PEri: AGmin  RASoky RABmin  REmie RAGmin

Sronmoans 11 251 2R . - -
Longiem ety 13875 15,008 £15 1 0 20
Kergets payebia esaied \HE M85 1B - - 2
et mpene and oifer payabies B B3 i - = =
L bt fustded) L 070 A s ) 57
ety von-cumert ehilfes H H 2 & - -
ot R AL i T 153

Management believes that the Group’s current cash on hand, expected cash flows from
aparations and avadable cradit facilities from banks (Note 20) will ba sufficient to meal tha
Group's working capital requirements and repay 13 borrowings and payables whan they become
due,
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 20022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Risks (continued)

[lii} Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk exposure arises pomarntly from its short-term debis and fong-tam
debfs. Debts camying Interest at variabls rafes and at fwed rales exposa the Group to cash fiow
infenest rate risk and tair valus interest rate risk, respectvely, The Group manages its exposure to
intenast rate sk by closaty monitonng the changs in the market inerest rate,

The following table sets out the Interest rate profile of the Group™s debis at the end of the

reporting paniod:
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Effective Eflective
Imterest Interest
rata % RMB million rate % RAMB million
Fixed rate debts
Shorl-tesmn debls 3.3 2,403 5.8 2,146
Long-tarmm debis 1.4 T.644 24 13,875
10,047 15821
Variable rate debls
Shorl-term dabts 3.5 437 3 B75
437 BTS
Total debis 10,484 16,496
Fixpd rate dobis asa
percentage of total debls 85.8% 95.9%

Maragement does not expect the increase of decrease In interest rate will mateially affect
the Group's financial pasifion and result of cperations because the interest rates of 95.8% (31
Decamber: 2021: 85.9%) of the Group’s short-tarm and long-lerm daibls as al 31 Decamber
2022 are fved &3 set out Bbave,

243/290



EDINETOOOO
Oo00000000000000000000000(E05927)
Oooooooa

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2022

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b} Risks (continued)

(iv] Foreign currency exchange rate risk
Forelgn curmancy exchange rate sk ansas on financial Instruments: that are denominated in a
cumency oiher than the functional currency In which they are measured, The Group's foreign
CUTBNGY MiSK exposure mainky refates 1o bank deposits and bormowings denominated primarily in
LS dollars, Eurcs and Hong Kong dollars.

Management doas not expect the appreciation or depreciabon of the Renminkd against forelgn
currancies will materialy atfect the Group's financial position and resul! of operalions Decause
94.3% (31 December 2021; #9.6%) of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and 97.4% (1
Decamber 2021: 88.2%) of the Group's shoet-tarm and lang-term debils as at 31 Decamber
2022 are denorminated in Perminki. Detals of bank loans dencminated in ofher cumencies ae
sat out in Mote 20,

41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Groun's primary objectives when managing capital are to salequard 1he Group's ability 1o comtinue as a
going concarm, &0 thatl il can continue 1o provide imestment returms for shareholdars and benafits for olhar
stekeholders, by pricing products and sandces commensarately with ths level of sk and by Securing ac0ess 10
finance at a reasonabls cost.

hanagement regulsrty reviews and manages its capltal structure to maintain & belance between the highar
sharsholder ratums that might be possible with: higher levels of borrowings and the advantages: and gecurity
alforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments 1o the capital structure in ight of changes in
BCONCMES Condtions,

Maragement monitors its capdtal structure on the basis of total debls io total assets ratio. For this purpass
the Growp defnes (ofal detds as the sum of short-term debis and long-termn debts. Tolal debis do not include
balance of deposits recaived by Fnance Compary from Chéna Telecom Group amounting to RMB1T, 427
million and leass liabiliies amourding to AMBSE6.896 million as at 31 Decamber 2022 (31 Decamber 2021;
AMB13.016 milion and BMB42.404 milion). As al 31 Decarnbey 2022, the Group's total debil-to-1c1al assals
ratio was 1.3% {31 Decembeer 2021: 2,2%), which |s within 1he renge of management’s expeciation,

Excapt Finance Comparmy is subject 1o conain capital requiremants imposed by China Banking and Insurance

Regquialcry Commission, neither the Company nar any of is subsidiaries arg subject 0 axtemaly Imposed
capital requiremants,
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Tha abls bolow details chianges in the Group's Eabiites arising fram Snancing activitins, inciudng Doth cash
and non-cash chandges. Liabiities arising from financing acivites &ne thosae for which cash flows wera, of fulure
cash fows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash fiows from financing

actiitios,
O
Pplenin payatis
reapect of Deposits  in respect of
ngtainent wih cerian
Shertdem  Long-teem  purchass of Leate  Diidend  Finance equly
bl debls  equipment  Babiftes | payabie  Compay  bamactions Tola
RMBmiliyy FMEmilen RMBmilon FMEmion AMBmion RMEmdion RMBmilion FMEmilion
[Hota
Balpros e gl ¥ Gy P8t o5 b = AR - =l ot T
Frarcing cxin fows ATy it H] SR | s ] - E40E0)
Forsgriachagpgan ise = L] = B = - 5 ]
Wew oz pealgad - - - e - - - TR
Diszosstof subaidiores . . - bl . . 1748
Jexpstion o non-cortroeg e - . - - - 5 e
Tsbuion ¥ et riaasis - - = = 8 - - 1%
Daiercss deciaret - - = = k] - - ELE
Othes - i3 - [5.253 - - - -]
Bete s o 3 aearber 2001 e g aE - U o - i
Frareig e fows 1% Eis mo s EE 4 - g
Foengr Bengs g ot it - # - “ . . . "
Vo - - - Ha - - - 98
Do - cpriroing Tesess - - - - L] - - -]
Do dacienn - . - - B - . Ly
Ot . 813 pes . - - P
Baree 262 31 Decanber D20 2540 T i 30 3 i7A - wam
Notas:

(7] As ol 37 Decomber 2022, the balanoe of dopostss willt Finance Company amouning io QB1 7427 miion (31 Decamber 2021:
FAIBITA 006 million) wens ook ot amounits dos o Ching Tekcom Group n accned expensed &0 alher coyabies obs 22)

" For he ywar ended 3T December 2022, offar than the net Enancng cash cutfiows dalaling AVEMS, (08 milion @027: AWAESS 360
rlion) e pressnind above. ofher prenany fransing scivities inckude Finance Company's placing slafudory ceosil rsenmes
amocrding fo RABELT mdion G02 T RVET T mionj at M Peopis s Bani of Civna whoh was nclaied i S halsnoe of shordferm
Dank ol ot roiicing cash &g & 3T Deseerber 2021,
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
{a) Transactions with China Telecom Group

The Group is-a parl of comparees under China Telecommunications Corporation, a company owned
by the PRC govermment. and has significant transactions and business refalionships with: membess of
China Telecom Group.

The principal ransactions with China Telscom Group which wend cammiad oull In e ordinary course of
business are as follows. Thesae transactions constiiute conBinuing connected transactions under the
Listing Rules and the Company has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter
144 of the Listing Fules. Furiher detads of these confinuing connected rensactions are disclosed under
tha paragraph “Continuing Conmecled Transactions® in the "Significant Events”,

2021
Notes RAMB million  BWE millon
Conslruttion engineeing and Casign Sanices l 16,993 15,869
Receiving ancillary sendces i 22,309 22 613
Inferconnecton revenues {8 a8 Bp
Interconnaction charges (i) 102* 131
Fecaiving community Senices {iv} 4,340 3,599
Cenirafizad services transaction ravenuss ) 3,572 3042
Centralisad senvices transaction sipensas i &70 5580
Propecty and land use right lsase income i 51 50
Property and land use right lase reiated expanses ivil) 715 E38
Addition to nght-of-Use assats i) 463 240
Infares] axpsaresa on lease Exblites i) 21 17
Provision of IT sarvices (i) 1,944 1,186
Fecahving IT sandces | 4,834 3,548
Purchases of telecommunicalions equipment and
materials ' fix} 4,248 4,105
Sales of lescommunications eguipmant and
matertals (%) 4,602 3,901
Irrral Bppbcations chanil sarvices () 57 )

[riarest expense on leans from China Telscom
Group®

:
&
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2082

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)

2022 2021
Motes AMB million  AME millian
Considaration racaivad from deposal of subsldares oy - 4072
Payment and digital finance related senices ) 1,068 aoe
Communications rescurces leass v 442 216
Nat daposit by China Telecom Group with Finance
Company™ ] 4411 3160
Interast Bxparias on the deposit by China Telacom
Group with Finance Company* v 238 182
Short-term loans grantied by Finance Company 1o
China Telecom Grow fied] 8,105 2,000
China Telecom Group's repayments of short-temm
‘oans granied by Finance Company ] 2,034 -
Interest incoma friom ko granted by Finance
Company o China Telecom Groug e 20 1
Recehing france lease savices o) 2212 -

Thaeg [FAnGactions & conauchsg o N comemein Mmms o et and s fully anampded iRam compianoe Wi he
rring. announcement, indatendent shansholdens” aporoval and/or annuad evies eguisments Lnder Rl TdA N8 or
144,50 of the Listg Ruies,

Fiosos:
Aapresen! covstLchion and enoneening ns wel 45 deogn 30 SUDEVIS0N sen0es Drovidked by Ching Telsoom Group.

-] Wmm:ﬂwmﬂhmhﬁm&mpnmdmmm“mm

I of Al S ¢ ) facdid Ol Ol CLafonne BRnviong.

L] Rogresent ! T ot frorms pa andl payabie o China Tok Group for ind ctinn of local and
ooy g aisianos cals.

[0 Repressn! amaunts pad snd payabie fo China Talscomn Group o meepect of culilesl sducalons. Math cav and ofhe
COMITly Sacds

& Fopresent rlafed nenues and expenses shamd befween Fur Company and China Telscom Group for cenfradsed sanvons.

L SRopresent amounts of propory sase fees recaived and' meoskahie from China Teleoom Group for easing of properties and’
T wse nghis
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)
Tode o)
fout Fapvisent amoints i eaecdof B ke of pesoarte s and g o ol Do Cheg Tedeooen Geoup, whseh inclick

feer S short-térn bases. jeases of bww-rada arsels. vanibie lbase poyments ol deconding on an ndex o a rade, fees far
[l ] i e anal et o mphf=of-cimr aspols g inace kabdbes reooonded L e

fend FRepresent IT senvdons provaded' i and received om Ching Teecom Graoup.

fix) Repvasant $he amound of elscommunicalions sqlismant and’ malenals porofused fromdsaly to Ching Telsoom Grown and
SoTEEED B and Pyt v f rciched by Ciwna Tad Girup

™ Reapveson! ameunts mooved &0 meshakdy fom Ching Telecom Geoup i fespect of Iferd AREications chanml Ssavices,
Inciuting the prosision of communscations chanmal and anysicalions suppot el andl beling and deduction senices. alc:

] Repaisen! inleres! paid 400 payable 2 Ching Tescom Group with nespect 16 the bans fom Ching Telscom Groop aohe
200

i} Fepresont conSomion eOsind 0 reapoct of dsposs’ of subsilanes fom Chia Teloom Groop
o] FRepvesent amounts pad! and payadse fo Ching Tescom Group i mepect of paymend snd dipis! franos relited servios.
] FReprosant amounts in mspac! of the basng of nesled communicafions resolroas from Ching Tadscom proun, ind iding

S0 P ST m i vk SovTTE A vasple aooics nabvork
COMVTHIFCAlONG AROUITEE S0

f] Reprasent amounds aelafed io financis’ senioes proviced by Finance Company o China Talecom Group, including iending
SR, DD SIS AT SONeT e Senees,

fodl  Represent amounts reided o finance ease sennces provided by Ching Telecom group, including france inase senices
such a5 sale and laaseback, drsct ass, efc., and mlated Snance e cormulng senaces.
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for the year ended 31 Decamibar 2022

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)

Amounts dus fromfto China Telecom Group ans summarnsed as iollows:

31 December
2022 2021
AMB million AME millicn
freatated)
Accounts recahabie 2,073 1,880
Conlract assets 180 139
Prepayments and other current assels 8,846 2,716
Ottver assets a2 45
Aocounts payakie 23,971 o013
Accnped expenses and ofher payables 19,841 15,240
Contract labiliies 271 198
Other currant liabaitios 1,528 =
Lessa labiities 652 EO1

Amounts due fromfio China Telecom Group, other than short-tesm loans granted by Finance Company
included in prepaymants and othes current assels (Mote 184 and deposit with Finance Company
ncluded inaccrued expenses and other payables (Mote 4201, bear no interest, are unsecured and are
resceivabla o repayabla in accordance with confractual terms which ara similar 1o thosa tarms offerad by

third partias,
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b} Transactions with China Tower

The principal transactions with- China Tower are as follows. Thess transactions do not constitute
connected trarsactions under the Listing Rudes.

2021
Males AME millien RME miion

Tower assets leasa rolabed expensas il 12,193 11,438
Addiion tonight-of-use assats ] 2,239 2820
Interast axpanses on lease labiities fil 287 630
Prosasson of IT sandces {1} 30 31
Addition to right-ol-Use assats dua o

lamsn modcation i} 33,518 =
et
n T AUt 11 repet of S O of Ionee dETE Teweer (EI8TE ledte mlifed emPnnTEs retlce I vatAbE ase

et mol e pending o an e o 3 rafe a0 feas for non-isiee componenis
Il Represant IT and ol ancliey services provided [o China Tower:

Eo] The avipinal commical pricing acreemant and e sanice agresmend of the Company's Jeasing of lescomminications
towers and feaded assers fom Ching Tower war due 10 axpre o 31 December 2082, Ther Boasd of Divectors and e
Board of Supscrions consciad and appeeved’ Me Comgdy i dnfar oo bhe ! e o and
sovvie apreomdny vl China Tower for & fenm of fee pears commonong fom [ Jdanuany 2023 fo 31 December 2027
Thar i consdersd 4% lsase moddficalons fo terms nchaing sass considewalions and ease farms M wane sel 5 e
ongnal commencial pricing agreemant and 5 senvic agresment. Thenslore. on (e dade of lease modiicalions. the Goup
A N Conpah LR th chaleemingd e Re bammg, o i Bace Ualdtas upng
the present vale caboubited with rmised sase payrenis and odiscount s, and adiusted’ rebded nphl-of-use assais
ACCOngy,
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for the year endad 31 Decamibar 2022

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Transactions with China Tower (continued]

Amounts dus fromdte China Tower ane summearissd as follows:

1 Decembar
2022 2021
AMB million AME millicn
Accounts recehabis 23 9
Prepayments and other current asssts a3 45
Accounts payakie 4,340 3914
Accroed expenses and ofher payables 1,590 1,686
Coniract iabifitios - 3
Leass Iabilities 40,339 13,808

Amounts due fromto China Tower bear no interest, are usecured and are receivable of repayabie in
accordance with contractual larms which are simiar to those larms oifared by third parties.

(c) Key management personnel compensation
fey management personnel are those parsons having authority and responsibiity for planning, dirscting
and controling the activitios of the Group, drectly o indnectly, including drectors and supenvisons of the

Group.

Ky managemant parsonnel compensation of the Group is summarised as foows:

2022 2021

RMB thousand  RME thousand

Sfiart-1aam employes banefils 11,400 10,288
Post-empioyment benefits. 1,058 1,032
12,459 11,321

The above remunadation has baen reflecied in personnal axpenses.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
{d) Transactions with other government-related entities

The Group s a government-related enterpeise and operaies in an economic regime currently. dominated
by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the People's Repubc of China through govemmeant
authorities, agences, affilations and cther organisations icolectively referred to as "govermment-related
ankitias”),
Apart from fransactions with the parent company and is fellow subsidiaries (Mate 43(al) and China
Toweer (Mote 430, the Group has transactions that are collectively bul nat indiidually significant wilth
other govemment-related entities, which include but not Bmited to the koilowing:
. rendaring and recelving services, inciuding but not imited to telecommunications senices
. salgs and purchases of goods, properties and other assets
. lsasa of assels
- dapasits and borowings
* usa of pubhs utlities
Thesa ransactions are conductad in the cordinary course of e Group's Business on lerms comparabie
1o the terms of ransactions with other entities hat are not government-related. The Group prices
ifs telecommunications services and products based on government-regitated lanfl rates, wharg
appicable, or based on commercial negotiations. Tha Group has also estabishad procunenmnant poicies
and-aporoval processes-for purchages of products-and senices, which do nol depend on whather the

counerparties are government-reiated entitias o Not.

Tha directors of the Company believe the above information provides appropniate disclosune of refated
party transactons.
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44, INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY
31 December
2022 2021
Nota RMB million AME mllicn
ASSETS
Mon-current assats’
Froperty, plant and equipment. net 393,043 404 B2
Corstruclion in progross 49,966 44,018
Right-o!-use assals 83,683 60,268
Goodwil 29877 29,877
Intangitle assats 18,992 18,083
Investmants in subsidiarias a 33,086 30,716
Imarasts in associates and joint veniLres 41,878 40,001
Financial assots at tair value through profit or loss 3 -
Ecuity instruments at tir value theough othor
COMpABHanSve incoma 757 a21
Defarrad ta asssts 3272 6,196
Ciher assels 8586 6,832
Total non-current assets 663,153 642,724
Current assats
inventaries 1,460 1,391
income tax recoverable a7 419
Acoounis necahabio, rel 20,491 19,178
Confract assats 2,054 00
Prepayments and other current assets 16,867 16,598
Short-term bank deposits and resincted cash 534 14
Cash and cash squivalents 47,733 50,812
Total current assets 89,196 Ba012

Total assets 752,349 731,736
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

44. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)
31 December
2022 2021
MNate RME million RME miion
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term delis 26,964 28,421
Current portion of long-term debls 3,160 5,280
Accounts payabs 108,354 105,447
Accrued expenses and other payables 43,052 41,921
Cenfract Sabililias 59,639 63,439
Income lax payabls 526 106
Current portion of leass fiabilities 14,035 13,555
Tetal current liabilities 255,734 258,259
Mot current liabilities (166,538) [170,247)
Total assets lass current liabilities 496,615 AT2ATT
MNon-current labilities
Long: teem dabils 4,484 7,386
Leass labdities 51,131 28,168
Delerred tax llaDiities 27 508 26400
Oither non-cument labites 4,678 1,382
Total non-current liabilities 87,901 63,345
Total liabilities 343,635 322,604
Exquity
Share capital 91,507 21,507
Heeanes 26 317,207 317,625
Total equity 408,714 409,132
Total liabilities and equity 752,349 731,738
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45. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Az stipuiated by the reguiations of the PRC, the Group participates in vanous defned contribution retiremient
plans arganisad by provincial, autonomous regional and municipal governments for its emplovess, The
Group I8 required 1o make confributions 1o the refirement plans at rates ranging fram 14% to 20% of the
saianes, bonuses and certein allowances: ol employees. Cther than the abowe, the Group also parlicipates
in supplementary defined contribution retirement plans managed by independent extenal parties whereby
tha Group is required fo make contributions to the ratirement plans at foed rates of the employees’ salaries,
bonuses and cerlan allowances. The Group has no offvir matenial obligation for the peyment of pension
benefits assoclated wih these plans bevond the annual confributions described above. During the vear ended
31 December 2022, no forfeited contributions may be used by the Group to reduce the axsting level of
conributions (2021: nil),

The Group's contributions to the above plans for the year anded 31 Decamber 2022 ware RMED,915 milion (31
Decambar 2021: AMBS,043 million).

The amount payable for conbribUions fo the above defined contribution retirement plans as at 31 December
2022 was AMBE23 milion (31 December 2021: AMBTET milicn),

46. SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS

Thia Company Implemented a share appreciation ights plan for memibers of its manasgement (o provide
incentives to thesa employees. Under this plan, share sppreciation rights ane granted in urets: with each unit
reprasenting ana H share, Mo shares wil be issusd Under the share aporeciation rights plan, Upon exsrciss of
the: shars appreciation fghts, a recilent will recehe, subject 1o any appicabla withholding tax, a cash paymant
in RMB, franslated from the Hong Kong dofar emount egual to the product of the number of share appreciation
rights exarcised and the diferencs batwesan the axerciss price &nd market phice of the Company's H shanes al
tha date of exercise Dased on the apoiicable axchandgs rabs Datwesn RME and Hong Kang dollar-al the date of
the exercise. Tha Group recognises compensation expense of the share aporeciation nghts over the appicable
peeriod.

In Movember 2018, the Company approved the granting of 2,334 milion share apprectation right unéts to
sligitle amployess. Uinder the terms of this grant, all share appeaciation rights had a contractual il of five years
from date of grant and an exarcise price-of HKS3.81 per unit, exarcisa poce will be adiusiad in accordance
with the established ndes of the plan. A recipiant of share aporeciation rights may exercise the nghts in stages
commencng November 2020, As at each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the date of grant, the tofal
number of shive appreciation nghls exercisable may not in’agoregate excesd 33.5%, 66.7% and 100.0%,
respectively, of the tolal share appreciation rights granted 1o such person,
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46. SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS (continued)

i March 2021, the Company approved the adoption of the Pnass || Incentive: Scheme for Shane Aporeciation
Fights and the granting of approxmately 2.4 bifion share appraciation right urits o eligioks employees. Undsr
he termes of this grant, all share appreciation nights had a contraciual Be of five yvears fiom date of grant and an
exarcisa pnce of HKEZ. 686 per unil,

At the balance sheset date, the Company used the Binomial Model to detarming the fai value of the share
appreciation rights. The model inputs 1o determine the fair value of share appreciation nights granted inchuded
the closing price at the grant dabe, exarcise price, years io maburity, expected volatility, risk-free interest rale,
dividend payout ratio, the lower price imit on expactad exercise date and expecied furnover rate,

Mevements in the rumber of share appreciation rights for the years presented are as follows,

2022 20
As at 1 January 4,716,560,000  2,317,600.000
Granted - 2.401.745,000
Forfaited (1,320,000 (885,000
As al 31 Decamber 4,715,240,000  4,716,560,000

For tha years endad 31 December 2022 and 2021, no share appreciation righl unils wene axsrcised. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, compensation expenss of RMB1,009 milion (2021: AMBE0S milllon) was
recoonised by the Group in respect of share appreciation righits.

As al 31 Decembar 2022, tha carrying amount of the lability arising from share appreciation rghts was
RMB1.578 million (31 December 20:21: RMB5T1 milllon},
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47. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group's:financial position and resuls of cperations are sensitive to accounting methods. assumplions.
and estimates that underie the preparation of the consolidated financial stalements. Management basas tha
judgments and estimates on historical exparience and on other factors that the managament believas fo ba
reasonenie and which form the basis for making judgments about matters that are not readily apparent from
oiher sources. On an on-going basis, management evaluales its estimates. Actual results may differ from those
aslimates a5 lacks, circumsiancas and condlions changs.,

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgments and other uncertaintias afiecting application of
those policies and the sensilhvty of reparted resulls to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to
b considared when rviewing the conscidated financial statemants, The significant accounting polcies are sel
forth in Mote 3, Management beleves the following significant accounting polcies involve the most significant
judgmants and eslimabes usad in the preparation of the consolidated knancial slatements.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable

The Group uses provision malrx io caiculate ECL for the accounts recetvable, The provision rabes ans based
of cuslomer's past history of making paymaents whan due and current ability to pay by groupings of varous
deblors that have similar loss patlerns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical credit loss
expanance taking into corsidaration reasanable and supportable forward-looking information that |s avallabls
without undue coat of aliort. The historesl loss rates are reassessad annually, and changes In the forward-
locking infermation are considered. The Grolp has taken info acoount VarioUS MAacroSConaImic soenanos in
considaration of forward-looking information of enterprise customens. and appied weightings of the foliowing
threa econanmik: Sooneios as woll a3 related forward-locking factons. For the yaaxrs prosented, the waighting
of “Meutral”, "Positive”, and “Negative® scenarios is 60%; 20% and 20%. respectively. The Group regutary
mionitars and rewews the related assumplions used in caiculation of ECL, which includs the risk of economic
showchoam, changes of wdernal market anvrorenant and lechnological environment and cusiomers’ conditions,
Consumer Frice Index ("CPI"). Producer Price: Index. ("FFI") and Gross Domestic Procuct ("GDET), etc. in
addition; accounts recevabla with significant balances or credit-impaired are assessad for ECL individualy,

The provision of ECL is sensitive fo- changes in estimates. The informabion abowut the ECL and the Group's
Bccounis recenvainle are disclosad in Mobes 400and 16,
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for the year ended 31 Decemibar 2022

47. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets

Il crcumslances indicate thal the carrying ameount of a leng-ived asss! may nol be recoverable, (he asset
may be considared “impalred”, and an impairmant loss wolid be recogrised in aceordance wilh accounting
policy for Impainment of leng-ived asssts as described in Nots 3(h). Tha carrying amounts of the Group's long-
lived assats, including property, plant and equipment, infangible assets with finite ussiul ves, construction In
progress, night-of-use assets and confract costs are reviewed periodcally 1o detarming whether thers s any
incication af impaimnent, These assats are tosted lor meairment whenever svents of changes in circumstancas
incicata thal their reconded carmying amounts may not be recoverabla; For goodwill, the impairment testing is
parformed annusally at the end of aach reporting period, The recoveraible amount of an assel or cash-genesating
w5 the greater of s valus in use and fair value less costs of disposal. YWhen an assal doss not generals
cash Bows largely Independent of those from other assels, the recoverable amount s determined for the
smallast group of assets that generates cash inflows independently .2, a cash-gensrating unit). in determining
e valus in use, expected future cash fows generated by the assets ae discountsd to their present value. An
impainment loss is recogrised If the camying amount of an asset or |is cash-genecating unit sxceeds 15 estimated
recoverable amount. It ks ditficull to precsaly estimate tar value of the Group's long-kved assats becausa
quotad markat prices for such assels may not be readily avalabla. In datermining the valus in use, expacted
future cash fiows generated by tha asset are discounted to their present valus, which reéquires significant
estimates and judgments refating o level of revenus, amount of ocperating costs and applicabie discount
rate, atc, Management uses all readily avalable information In-determining an amount 1hat i3 a reasonabie
approxdmation of recoverabie amount.

Far the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no significant provision for impairment less was made
against the camying value of long-ved assats.

I defenmaning the recoversbie amount of the assats within the cash-genarating unit, signiflcant estimates: and
judgments ware requined in estimating fulure cish flows, revenues. oparating costs and applicabla dscount
rate, 6o, Changes in these estimates could have a significant iImpact on the-camying value of the assels and
could rasutl in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairmant in futures perods, Furhermons, revenus
growth rate, terminal growth rate and pre-tax discount rate are suldect to grealer uncaertainties in the cument
year due o uncertainty on volatiity in Snanclal markets.

Depreciation and amortisation

Property. plent and equipment and intangiile assets with fnite ussful ves ane depraciated and amartissd ona
shrapght-Ire basis over the estimaled usaful Bves of the assals, after taking into account their estmated rasidus
value, Management reviews the estmaled wsehd bves and residual values of the assels armualy inoorder o
detemine the amount of depreciation and amortisation expense (o be recorded duwring any reponing period,
The usahd ves and residual values are based on the Group's historical expenance with simiar assets and take
inle aotount anticipated technoiogienl changos, The deprociation and amortisation expanss is adusted cn a
prospective basis if there are significant changes from prenvdous estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year endad 31 Decamibar 20022

48. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTING
PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Up 1o the date of Issus of the corsolidated financial statlerments, the IASE has issued the following new and
amendmenis to standards which are not yet sffective and not sarly adopted by the Group for 1he annual
accounting perod ended 31 Decamber 2022

Effective for
accounting pariods
beginning on or after
IFRS 17 Sasurance Covlracis” 1 January 2023
Amendmants 1o WAS 1 “Preseniabion of Financisl Sfafement” ~ Clagsiication of
Liabiitias as Current or Mon-curmant 1 January 2023
Amendments o 1AS 1 “Prasentation of Financis Stafernent” and IFRS Practica
Satemant 2 “Making Mateviaity Judgements” - Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1. January 2023
Amandments io IAS B "Accounling Folices, Changes in Accounting Esiimales and
Erars” = Definition of Accountng Estimates 1. January 2023
Armandrmants 1o A5 12 “rcame Taves” - Daferrad Tax related 1o Assals and
Liabilities arising from a Singhs Transaction 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFAS 10 *Consoldafed Financial Sisfsments® and IAS 28
“Investments in sssociates and joint venlurss™ — Sale or contribution of assats
Datwioan an inwaaior and 55 associabe of joint veniro To be detorminod

The Group Is in the process of making an assessment of the impact that will result from adopling the new and
armardments 1o slandards issusd by the LASE which are not val alfective 1o the ascounting penod endad on
31 Dacarnber 2020 So fr tha Group balisvas that the adoption of these new and amendments o standards i
unlikaly to have 3 significant impact on its fnancial position and the resulls of oparations.

49. PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The parent and uitimate holding company of the Company as at 31 Dacembar 2022 is China
Telecommunicabons Corporation, a state-owned enterprise estabished in PRC.
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
17.48 16.75 16.06 18.06 21.01
16.01 14.86 14.79 15.78 17.93
16.71 15.80 15.48 17.04 19.54
16.16 15.60 15.81 18.05 19.10
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
2022 11 2022 12 2023 1 2023 2 2023 3 2023 4
20.58 19.74 19.50 19.62 19.77 19.54
19.28 18.94 18.84 19.10 19.03 19.04
19.90 19.35 19.18 19.44 19.39 19.36
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
19.47 2023 25
State Administration of Foreign Exchange 100
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Independent Auditor®s Report

To the Shareholders of China Telecom Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the People™s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Telecom Corporation Limited (the““Company””) and its subsidiaries
(the““Group””), which are set out on pages 185 to 287, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (““IFRSs””) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (““ISAs””). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (““IESBA Code””), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Revenue recognition
Impairment assessment of goodwill

Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 3 - Significant accounting
policies (m) and Note 27 — Operating revenues
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group®s operating revenues are mainly
generated from the provision of mobile
communications, wireline and Smart Family,
Industrial Digitalisation services and from
sales of goods.

Revenue recognition is subject to an inherent
risk. We focused on this area as significant
efforts were spent on auditing revenue
recognition due to the significant volume of
the transactions, the complexity of the related
information technology systems, the variety of
tariff and package structures relating to the
services and the complexity of multiple-element
arrangements. This also involved a number of
judgements and estimates on the identification
of distinct performance obligations and the
determination of the stand-alone selling price
for each single performance obligation in the
allocation of transaction prices among various
performance obligations.

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

In response to this key audit matter, we
performed the following procedures:

Obtained an understanding of, evaluated and
tested the design and operating
effectiveness of internal controls over the
capture and measurement of revenue
transactions, including the key internal
controls over in-scope IT systems such as
billing system;

Evaluated the appropriateness of
management®s identification and evaluation
of the terms and conditions by examining
contracts with customers and evaluating
management®s determination of the impact of
those terms and conditions on revenue
recognition;

Evaluated the appropriateness of
management®s identification of distinct
performance obligations and the
determination of the stand-alone selling
price for each performance obligation; and

Performed substantive testing on revenue by
examining supporting documents such as end-
user contracts, customer bills and billing
reports using sampling techniques and by
examining the reconciliation between the
billing system and financial records by
using computer assisted audit techniques.

Based on our work, we found that the revenue

recognized was supported by the evidence we
obtained.
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Key Audit Matter
Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to Note 3 - Significant accounting
policies (h), Note 7 — Goodwill and Note 47 -
Accounting estimates and judgments to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had recorded goodwill arising from
acquisition of its mobile communications
business. In accordance with International
Accounting Standards (““I1AS””) 36 ““Impairment
of Assets””, the Group is required to perform
goodwi Il impairment assessment both annually
and whenever there is an indication that a
cash-generating unit (““CGU””) to which
goodwill has been allocated may be impaired.
When performing the impairment assessment,
management has determined the recoverable
amounts of the CGU based on value in use
calculations using discounted cash flow model.

We focused on auditing the impairment
assessment of goodwill due to the magnitude of
the carrying amount of goodwill and the
estimation of recoverable amount was subject to
a high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill is considered high due
to the complexity of the impairment model
deployed, subjectivity of significant
assumptions used, and significant judgements
involved in selecting the underlying data, such
as revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate
and pre-tax discount rate.
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How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

In response to this key audit matter, we
performed the following procedures:

Obtained an understanding of the
management®s internal controls and
assessment process of the recoverable
amounts of goodwill; and assessed the
inherent risks of material misstatements by
considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management
bias;

Evaluated and tested the key internal
controls over the impairment assessment of
goodwill including controls over the
development of the model and significant
assumptions used in the impairment test;

Assessed the reasonableness of management®"s
allocation of goodwill to CGUs or groups of
CGUs based on our understanding of the
Group®s business;

Involved our valuation specialists to
evaluate the appropriateness of the model
and certain significant assumptions such as
the pre-tax discount rate and terminal
growth rate;

Evaluated the reasonableness of other key
assumptions adopted in the model such as
revenue growth rate with consideration of
our industry knowledge and independent
research performed by us and the degree of
historical accuracy of the management®s
assumptions and projections in achieving the
forecasts; and

Tested the completeness, accuracy and
relevancy of the underlying data used and
the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations in the models.

Based on our work, we found that the result of

management®s impairment assessment of goodwill
was supported by the evidence we obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor®s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

IT, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group®s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group®s financial reporting process.
Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor®s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting fromerror, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group®s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor”s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor®s report is Wilson W.Y. Chow.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2023
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Wilson W.Y. Chow.
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